
 

Sam Gorton: sam.gorton@lancashire.gov.uk 01772 534271 

 
Lancashire Health and Wellbeing Board 

Tuesday, 10 May 2022, 2.00 pm, 

 Skelmersdale Library, Southway, Skelmersdale, WN8 6NL 

 

 

AGENDA 
 

Part I (Open to Press and Public) 
 

Agenda Item Item for Intended Outcome Lead Papers Time 

1. Welcome, introductions and 
apologies  
 

Action To welcome all to the meeting, 
introduction and receive apologies. 
 

Chair   

2. Disclosure of Pecuniary and 
Non-Pecuniary Interests  
 

Action Members of the Board are asked to 
consider any Pecuniary and Non-
Pecuniary Interests they may have 
to disclose to the meeting in relation 
to matters under consideration on 
the Agenda. 
 

Chair   

3. Minutes of the Last Meeting 
held on 8 March 2022  
 

Action To agree the minutes of the 
previous meeting. 
 
 
 
 

Chair (Pages 1 - 8)  



Agenda Item Item for Intended Outcome Lead Papers Time 

4. Appointment of Deputy 
Chair  
 

Information To note the NHS appointment to the 
role of Deputy Chair of the Health 
and Wellbeing Board. 
 

Chair   

5. Best Start in Life  
 

Discussion/
Action 

To discuss one of the three Board 
priorities – Best Start in Life, with a 
focus on effective collaboration to 
address the issues that improve 
school readiness, including the 
importance of speech and 
language. 
 

Ruksana 
Sardar-Akram 

(Document to 
follow) 

 

6. Family Hubs  
 

Discussion/
Action 

To receive proposals for Family 
Hubs in Lancashire and the 
associated Growing Up Well Digital 
programme and to consider the 
opportunities for working in 
partnership, including with local 
communities, to ensure that the 
potential benefits of the Family 
Hubs model are realised. 
 

Dave Carr (Pages 9 - 
12) 

 

7. Lancashire Better Care Fund 
End of Year Report 2021/22  
 

Action To receive the Lancashire Better 
Care Fund End of Year Report for 
2021/22. 
 

Paul Robinson (Pages 13 - 
30) 

 

8. Update on the 
Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment 2022  
 
 
 
 

Action To receive an update on the 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment. 
 

Dr Sakthi 
Karunanithi 

(Pages 31 - 
108) 

 



Agenda Item Item for Intended Outcome Lead Papers Time 

9. Urgent Business  
 

Action An item of Urgent Business may 
only be considered under this 
heading, where, by reason of 
special circumstances to be 
recorded in the minutes, the Chair 
of the meeting is of the opinion that 
the item should be considered at the 
meeting as a matter of urgency.  
Wherever possible, the Chief 
Executive should be given advance 
warning of any Members' intention 
to raise a matter under this heading. 
 

Chair   

10. Date of Next Meeting  
 

Information The next scheduled meeting of the 
Board will be held at 2pm on 19 July 
2022.  Venue to be confirmed. 
 

Chair   

 

 
L Sales 

Director for Corporate Services 
 

County Hall 
Preston





1 

 

 
Lancashire Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Minutes of the Meeting held on Tuesday, 8th March, 2022 at 2.00pm at Stubbylee 
Community Greenhouses, Stubbylee Lane, Bacup, OL13 0DD 
 
Present: 
 
Chair 
 
County Councillor Michael Green, Lancashire County Council 
 
Committee Members 
 
County Councillor Jayne Rear, Lancashire County Council 
County Councillor Sue Whittam, Lancashire County Council 
Dr Sakthi Karunanithi, Public Health, Lancashire County Council 
Dave Carr, Director of Policy, Commissioning and Children's Health 
Councillor Barbara Ashworth, East Lancashire, Lancashire Leaders Group 
David Blacklock, Healthwatch 
Clare Platt, Health Equity, Welfare and Partnerships, Lancashire County Council 
Sam Gorton, Democratic Services, Lancashire County Council 
 
Apologies 
 
Denis Gizzi Chorley and South Ribble CCG and Greater Preston 

CCG 
Louise Taylor Adult Services and Health and Wellbeing, Lancashire 

County Council 
Gary Hall Lancashire Chief Executive Group 
Councillor Viv Willder Fylde Coast, Lancashire Leaders Group 
Councillor Matthew Brown Central, Lancashire Leaders Group 

 
1.   Welcome, introductions and apologies 

 
The Chair welcomed all to the meeting and thanked staff from Stubblylee Community 
Greenhouses in Bacup for hosting the meeting and officers from the Public Health Team 
and Democratic Services for arranging the meeting. 
 
Apologies were noted as above. 
 
Replacements for the meeting were as follows: 
 
County Councillor Jayne Rear for County Councillor Williamson, Lancashire County 
Council 
Dave Carr for Edwina Grant OBE, Education and Children's Services, Lancashire County 
Council 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 
2 

 

Councillor Barbara Ashworth, Portfolio holder for Health and Leisure, Rossendale Borough 
Council and Health and Wellbeing Board member, representing East Lancashire, 
Lancashire Leaders Group also welcomed everyone to Rossendale on behalf of the host 
Authority. 
 
Councillor Barbara Ashworth and Adam Allen, Director of Communities outlined the 
"Rossendale, Our Place, Our Wellbeing, Our Plan" which has been produced over the last 
18 months.  The plan had been informed by what the people and partners in Rossendale 
had agreed was needed to make a difference to people's health and wellbeing, giving 
direction and focus as a united team for Rossendale.  It had been shaped by connecting, 
sharing ideas, experiences and passion and was the responsibility of everyone in 
Rossendale, to deliver it and make sure it achieves what it sets out to and to continue to 
improve things for the people and Rossendale.   
 
During Covid a group was formed called Rossendale Connected comprising people in the 
community, voluntary sector groups and individuals and it continues to meet now and has 
also been key to the plan.   
 
The plan is a working "community" document and will be reviewed every year.  It was 
suggested that other districts in Lancashire may wish to replicate what Rossendale has 
done in connecting the health and wellbeing landscape.  There is no funding attached to 
the plan, however the currency is genuine appreciation for community effort, sharing 
energy and inspiration with each other/sectors and networks, resources in terms of ideas, 
creativity and sharing buildings and spaces to have a better impact on communities. 
 
Dr Sakthi Karunanithi expressed his gratitude and thanks to Rossendale for creating this 
plan and highlighting that money was not always important for improving health and 
wellbeing because enduring relationships are key. 
 
County Councillor Green also congratulated Rossendale on the plan and hoped that this 
piece of work would be replicated in other areas across the County too. 
 
2.   Disclosure of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests 

 
There were no disclosures of interest in relation to items appearing on the agenda. 
 
3.   Minutes of the Last Meeting held on 25 January 2022 

 
Resolved: That the Board agreed the minutes of the meeting held on 25 January 2022. 
 
There were no matters arising from them. 
 
4.   Appointment of Deputy Chair 

 
The Board were informed that as the NHS system was still evolving, an appointment of 
Deputy Chair had still not been made and that the appointment would be confirmed as 
soon as possible, with an update  at the next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
on 10 May 2022. 
 

Page 2



 
3 

 

Resolved: That this item be deferred to the next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing 
  Board in May 2022. 
 
5.   Healthy Hearts Strategy Development 

 
Aidan Kirkpatrick, Consultant in Public Health and Alison Moore, Public Health Specialist, 
Lancashire County Council presented the report to the Board, which articulated the 
pressing need for the development of a Lancashire wide Healthy Hearts strategy. It 
outlined the strategic intent and proposed key recommendations to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, seeking a mandate for this work and ensure system wide buy-in. 
 
The Board was reminded that the report aligned with the recent commitment to prioritise 
Healthy Hearts and with the Government's 'Levelling Up' agenda; that by 2030 the gap in 
Healthy Life Expectancy between local areas where it is highest and lowest would have 
narrowed and that by 2035 Healthy Life Expectancy would rise by five years.   
 
The latter policy intervention was particularly pertinent for Lancashire given not only the 
wide variations in both Life Expectancy and Healthy Life Expectancy across Lancashire; 
but also, crucially the fact that when considering the expectancy gap between the most 
and least deprived quintiles of Lancashire, just over 24% of this gap was attributed to 
circulatory disease related mortality (ahead of all other causes of death).  
 
The Board recognised that cardiovascular disease has a strong impact on life expectancy, 
and the Healthy Hearts Programme, based on a Best Practice Framework, will help 
address this. 
 
The Board were informed that arrangements were underway for a workshop later in March 
to scope out how best to further develop the Healthy Hearts Strategy and associated work 
programmes.  This would help to build upon a range of emerging national targets related 
to cardiovascular disease. 
 
Robin Ireland, Food Active was welcomed to the Board and supported discussion about 
the Healthy Weight Declaration (Appendix A) . Food Active is a North-West based charity 
and so far, across England, 26 Councils have adopted the Healthy Weight Declaration.  
Lancashire County Council initially signed the Health Weight Declaration in 2017, 
however, during 2020 the 16 commitments as detailed in Appendix A were reviewed and 
refreshed. 
 
The Board were also asked to note that an event was being planned towards the end of 
June 2022 around Healthy Weight to consider policies that can be adopted at district level. 
 
Following the presentation, the following points were raised: 
 
The Board was asked about emotional wellbeing and mental health in young people, and 
whether there were any lessons to be learnt as the strategy is taken forward. The Board 
was informed that the plan was to start to explore across the teams where insight and 
learning could be sought from residents. To start the process, discussions have been 
taking place with teams across Lancashire and it is crucial to get the perception of the 
programme right.  Across the networks, they need to be directing residents to programmes 
that are already in place, working together to increase the numbers of participators and 

Page 3

http://mgintranet/documents/s192431/Report.pdf
https://council.lancashire.gov.uk/documents/s192432/Appendix%20A.pdf


 
4 

 

improve the quality of the programmes. It was also noted that there should be a family 
approach and have a variety of delivery to try and attract people to take part and to 
remove the stigma of the word 'weight' and make it fun. 
 
A query was raised in terms of what is stopping people engaging with the services that are 
being offered to them, particularly when there are 65% of people in Lancashire who are 
overweight or obese.  The Board were referred back to the Foresight Obesity System 
Map, which shows the causes of overweight and obesity and the complexity of people's 
lives. The intention is to work on a whole systems approach and look at the different 
reasons why people may not be engaging, ie transport issues, community safety, drug and 
alcohol use, weather etc. that are being identified as a barrier in accessing a healthy 
lifestyle. 
 
Adrian Leather, from Active Lancashire commented that the whole issue is about 
behaviour change and everybody is working on that agenda.  Three offers were made to 
support the Healthy Hearts offer, from Active Lancashire, which were: 
 
i) To provide data on areas in Lancashire where the focus is most needed on physical 

activity (who is active, who has the propensity to be active, age profiles) and data 
on indications of what works around messaging and offers and working with local 
partners will join this area of work up. 

ii) To help on Business Health Matters around workplace health and wellbeing and 
health checks available and would like to see this referenced more during this piece 
of work on Healthy Hearts.  If it was to become a campaign, Active Lancashire 
would like to work with the Authority on targeting and developing the messaging 
and to focus on young people and adults. 

iii) Work on informing the policy on sustainable transport and resource applications ie 
upgrading pavements, prioritising routes which would support local cycling routes. 

 
Dr Sakthi Karunanithi, Director of Public Health, Lancashire County Council commented 
that the intent behind the Healthy Hearts programme was to mobilise collective 
endeavours.  Planning is happening on three dimensions: 
 
i) Policy and creating a better environment (ie planning, transport). 
ii) Services for individuals (ie clinical, behaviour change or broader wellbeing 

programmes). 
iii) Mobilising communities and engaging them. 
 
It was agreed that the Board would welcome the offer from Active Lancashire and link up 
with the work that was alluded to in the workplaces to enable a shared understanding and 
develop it with partners.  It was noted that this was the start of the journey and there was 
lots of learning to be taken forward following discussions at this meeting and from 
Rossendale and the work they have carried out for their plan and the successful links they 
have made with their communities. 
 
It was also noted that the role of the District Councils is crucial in this area of work and to 
utilise the Community Hubs model which has been in place throughout Covid and proved 
a better connection between communities and Local Authorities. 
 

Page 4

https://www.google.co.uk/url?esrc=s&q=&rct=j&sa=U&url=https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/296290/obesity-map-full-hi-res.pdf&ved=2ahUKEwiL2Li9hd_2AhXfQkEAHYGxDrYQFnoECAQQAg&usg=AOvVaw3cz4RLFOAynbJHcJE4sYv5
https://www.google.co.uk/url?esrc=s&q=&rct=j&sa=U&url=https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/296290/obesity-map-full-hi-res.pdf&ved=2ahUKEwiL2Li9hd_2AhXfQkEAHYGxDrYQFnoECAQQAg&usg=AOvVaw3cz4RLFOAynbJHcJE4sYv5


 
5 

 

Data sharing was highlighted as a challenge for the NHS Health Checks programme and 
was recognised as a generic challenge for many different services. If a service intervention 
is undertaken in a community setting, and that service is dependent upon follow up by 
NHS, particularly in primary care, then robust and safe data transfer is essential.  This 
remains a key challenge and discussions are taking place to provide solutions.  It was also 
noted that it was not only a technical issue, but a cultural issue Lancashire and South 
Cumbria wide. 
 
Resolved: That the Health and Wellbeing Board: 
 
i) Endorsed the strategic development of the proposed Healthy Hearts Programme. 
ii) Signed the Healthy Weight Declaration (Appendix A) pledging to tackle unhealthy 
 weight within Lancashire. 
iii) Supported the targets currently being developed for the emerging Healthy Hearts 
 Strategy. 
iv) Endorsed a joined up collaborative approach with the emerging Integrated Care 
 System Cardiovascular Disease Prevention Programme, to support cross 
 organisational leadership and delivery responsibilities. 
v) Agreed to receive future updates as this programme of work develops further. 
vi) Agreed the offers received from Active Lancashire and to work with partners to 

develop the Healthy Hearts offers for Lancashire. 
 
6.   Health Equity in Lancashire 

 
This item was deferred due to apologies. 
 
7.   Better Care Fund 

 
Paul Robinson, Senior Programme Manager, NHS Midlands and Lancashire 
Commissioning Support Unit presented the report on the Lancashire Better Care Fund 
Pan 2021/2022 to the Board.  The report provides a high-level view of the plan and further 
details, and background are available in the appendices attached to the agenda. 
 
The Better Care Fund (BCF) programme began in 2015 and Lancashire has had in place 
Better Care Fund (BCF) plans since, based upon a clear governance structure and 
planning process. The Health and Wellbeing Board has received regular updates and 
engaged, in its role as the Better Care Fund (BCF) accountable body. 
 
The Board noted that the process had been changed over the last two years during the 
pandemic, as resources needed to be refocussed and the Better Care Fund (BCF) had 
continued but in a more discreet manner.  It had provided some basis for accelerated 
collaborative working and services funded through it had been at the core of supporting 
NHS and social care systems to respond to the pandemic.  Such was the position in 
2020/21 that no Better Care Fund (BCF) plans were produced nationally in year, however, 
activity reflected end of year reporting.  
 
In 2021/22 planning had been delayed, however, through partner collaboration, the plan 
has been produced and presented to the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
previously and was being presented to the Board for full consideration. This had allowed 
consolidation and clarity that would support the Better Care Fund (BCF) going forward and 

Page 5

http://mgintranet/documents/s192432/Appendix%20A.pdf
https://council.lancashire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=825&MId=11275&Ver=4


 
6 

 

on a much wider scale the delivery of the Intermediate Care Programme for which it is an 
enabler.  
 
The Board was informed that to enable the completion of the national assurance process, 
the Chair of the Board had approved the plan having consulted Board members through 
email and received no comments to the contrary. 
 
The report provides a high-level view of the plan. Detail and background are available in 
the appended briefing and background papers. 
 
The 2021/22 Better Care Fund (BCF) Policy Framework indicated that the Better Care 
Fund (BCF) would continue into 2022/23 and this was further confirmed in the NHS 
2022/23 priorities and operational planning guidance and in the Provisional Local 
Government Finance Settlement. No further detail is currently available. 
 
Following the presentation, the following issues/points were raised: 
 
A query was raised as to how Lancashire had performed after spending £166.48 million of 
the Better Care Funding for 2021/2022.  It was reported that it had been a well-directed 
spend across the system and that the system has worked better with barriers being broken 
down and due to this, should be able to demonstrate success, although further analysis is 
required. 
 
Paul Robinson informed the Board that guidance for the end of year report had not been 
received yet.  
 
It was felt that the voluntary sector should continue to be fully engaged.  
 
The Board also noted that the plan had undergone national assurance.  
 
Resolved: The Health and Wellbeing Board:  
 
i) Confirmed the Chair of Lancashire Health and Wellbeing Board's approval, given 

under delegated powers, to the Lancashire Better Care Plan for 2021/22. 
ii) Would receive, at a future meeting, the 2021/22 Better Care Fund year-end report 

when produced.  
iii) Would receive further updates on Better Care Fund activity and development into 

2022/23. 
 
8.   Urgent Business 

 
There was no urgent business received. 
 

Page 6



 
7 

 

 
9.   Date of Next Meeting 

 
The next scheduled meeting of the Board will be held on Tuesday, 10 May 2022 at 2pm at 
a venue in West Lancashire. 
 
 
 
          L Sales 

Director of Corporate Services 
  
County Hall 
Preston 

 

 

Page 7



Page 8



. 
 

Lancashire Health and Wellbeing Board 
Meeting to be held on Tuesday, 10 May 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
Family Hubs 
 
Contact for further information:  
Dave Carr, Director of Policy, Commissioning and Children's Health, Lancashire County 
Council, Tel: 01772 532066  
dave.carr@lancashire.gov.uk  
 

 
Executive Summary 
 
Family hubs are a way of joining up locally to improve access to services, the connections 
between families, professionals, services, and providers, and putting relationships at the 
heart of family help. Family hubs can include both physical locations and virtual offers, with 
a range of services for families with children of all ages, with a great Start for Life offer at 
their core. 
 
The Family Hubs and Growing Up Well Digital programmes present many opportunities for 
working better together in partnership and, if they are to achieve significant positive 
benefits for children and families, need the support and engagement of partners and 
stakeholders from across the children's system. 
 
Recommendations 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to: 
  
i) Note the proposals for Family Hubs in Lancashire and the associated Growing Up Well 

Digital programme 
ii) Consider the opportunities for working in partnership, including with local communities, 

to ensure that the potential benefits of the Family Hubs model are realised. 
 

 
Background 
 
Family hubs are a way of joining up locally to improve access to services, the connections 
between families, professionals, services, and providers, and putting relationships at the 
heart of family help. Family hubs can include both physical locations and virtual offers, with 
a range of services for families with children of all ages, with a great Start for Life offer at 
their core. 
 
There is evidence to show that a child’s home environment, family stability and parent - 
child relationships are central to children and young people’s development and their 
success in life. Local and national services have a vital role to play in supporting families 
with this and reducing disparities. However, disadvantaged and vulnerable families often 
experience significant difficulty as they interact with a complex service landscape and have 

Corporate Priorities: 
Caring for the vulnerable; 
Delivering Better Services 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6

mailto:dave.carr@lancashire.gov.uk


 

to constantly ‘re-tell their story’, to different services. Often professionals working in these 
services face practical barriers to working together as a team around the family, such as 
information sharing. 
 
A single gateway for family support services, such as family hubs, could improve join-up 
between organisations, offer a whole family approach, manage statutory pressures more 
effectively, reduce waiting times for early help interventions and ensure that families are 
offered support at the first time of asking. 
 
Lancashire County Council has submitted a bid for £1m to the Department for Education for 
Transformation funding to support the establishment of a network of Family Hubs across 
the County. The outcome of the bid is expected to be known shortly after the local elections 
in May 2022. 
 
If successful, the funding will run to March 2024, providing a project team and support to 
undertake consultation, engagement and design work at a local level across Lancashire to 
help move to a family hub model, including over 50 family hub buildings. The funding would 
include very little capital monies and would not cover the costs of family hub services 
themselves.  
 
The core universal services that must be delivered as part of the model include: 
 

 Midwifery: Support to parents to ensure a healthy birth 

 Health visiting: Mandated health reviews and a focus on increasing uptake 

 Infant feeding: Support and advice including networks and peer groups 

 Mental health: Parent and carer access to mental health support 

 Safeguarding: High quality safeguarding support, integrated in to services 

 SEND: Special needs and disability services, integrated in to the wider offer. 
 
Alongside these elements, Family Hubs should provide a clear offer of support to children 
and families across the 0-19 age range. 
 
Lancashire has a firm vision, existing foundation and infrastructure from which to build our 
network of connected 'Family Hubs' comprising building based, outreach and digital offers. 
The key elements include: 
  

 Family Hub Network: The virtual local network of joined up services 

 Family Hub: A single access point for co-located and coordinated services for children, 
young people, and families 

 Family Hub Bridge: A safe space for families providing brief interventions followed by 
introductions to local help and support 

 Family Hubs Signpost: Information for families on physical and virtual local help and 
support 

 Ambassadors: Local people who want to make a difference for families  

 Crew: The local team making the changes happen. 
 
The existing network of County Council Neighbourhood Centres could provide core 
elements of a physical Family Hub, with many centres already offering services from the 
Child and Family Wellbeing service and sessions delivered by partners. However, co-
located building-based services is only part of the model, with potentially huge opportunities 
through the development of better links between services at a local level, including through 
digital solutions. 
 
 

Page 10



 

Alongside the proposed development of Family Hubs, a digital programme called "Growing 
Up Well" has been running since summer 2021. The Growing Up Well programme, 
supported by the Department for Education, has identified key information sharing "pain 
points" experienced by practitioners and is informing the development of national and local 
solutions which will help people to work better together. The research team identified the 
following as key issues to address:  
 

 It can be difficult to identify and get in touch with the right professional and get in order 
to find out more about the family 

 Professionals receive vague referrals with little contextual or background information, 
which means they need to do follow up 'detective work'.  

 Practitioners can’t easily access and share information between systems and services  

 Records aren’t always up to date on systems, especially phone numbers and 
addresses, which means that practitioners often have to find this out via other 
practitioners or agencies. 

 
The Department for Education is working to develop and test out national solutions 
including a directory of practitioners and a referral tool which may help to address the first 
two issues above. Within Lancashire, a proof of concept has been undertaken to join up 
various datasets, including from our Early Help Teams, Children's Social Care and 
Education, to help inform a system wide-business case for the implementation of a digital 
Information Sharing Service.  The final outputs from the proof of concept are expected in 
May 2022. 
 
Each area of work outlined has seen really positive engagement from partners. Over 250 
people joined a Family Hubs Theory of Change workshop in February 2022, to begin 
conversations about the model and how it could be taken forward. Similarly, the Growing 
Up Well programme has seen links between digital teams across our partnerships 
strengthened considerably, particularly from colleagues within the Integrated Care System 
NHS Digital Team and the Police. 
 
The Family Hubs and the Growing Up Well Digital programmes present many opportunities 
for working better together in partnership and, if they are to achieve significant positive 
benefits for children and families, need the support and engagement of partners and 
stakeholders from across the children's system. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to note the proposals and consider the 
opportunities for opportunities for working in partnership, including with local communities, 
to ensure that the potential benefits of the Family Hubs model are realised. 

Page 11



Page 12



. 
 

Lancashire Health and Wellbeing Board 
Meeting to be held on 10 May 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
Lancashire Better Care Fund End of Year Report 2021/22 
(Appendices 'A', 'B', 'C' and 'D' refers) 
 
Contact for further information:  
Louise Taylor, Executive Director of Adult Services and Health & Wellbeing, 
Lancashire County Council. Email:  louise.taylor@lancashire.gov.uk  
 
 

 
Executive Summary 
 
The Lancashire Better Care Fund (BCF) end of year report 2021/22 reflects a period of 
significant volatility within the Health and Social care system.  It shows that the BCF plan 
has continued relatively unchanged from the previous year and has supported the Covid 
pandemic response. 
 
While the BCF conditions have been met, financial performance was as planned and there 
have been significant successes achieved in its delivery the report highlights significant 
challenges and potential tensions across health and social care as each respond to high 
demand, increasing costs and factors such as challenging workforce planning and market 
development. 
 
Performance as measured through the BCF metrics is mixed and skewed due to the 
pandemic response. A longer-term view of the performance. is required to see true impact. 
 
The BCF partner respondents to the end of year questionnaire approach have highlighted  
Successes and Challenges in delivering the BCF that can be used in the ongoing discussion 
on the aspiration of better integration of health and social care. 
 
Recommendations 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to: 
 
i) Approve the submission of the Lancashire Better Care Fund End of Year Report for 

2021/22. 
ii) Request a report on future Better Care Fund planning requirements once these are 

known. 
iii) Note the national intention for the Better Care Fund to continue into 2023 to support 

implementation of the new approach to integration at place level. 
 

 
 

Corporate Priorities: 
Delivering better services; 
Caring for the vulnerable; 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7

mailto:louise.taylor@lancashire.gov.uk


 

Background 
 
This report provides the detail of nationally required end of year report for the Lancashire 
Better Care Fund 2021/22.  The approval of the Lancashire Better Care Fund plan 2021/22 
was ratified by the Health and Wellbeing Board at its meeting of 8 March 2022. 
 
The impact of the ongoing pandemic resulted in changed planning and reporting 
arrangements for the BCF.  Formal planning was delayed and reporting, ordinarily required 
on a quarterly basis, was reduced to a single end of year report.  
 
The report to be submitted is in the format of a spreadsheet the significant elements of which 
are set out below. 
 
National Conditions 
 
Confirmation is required that the conditions have been met.  These are: 
 
1. A plan has been agreed for the Health and Wellbeing Board area that includes all 

mandatory funding and this is included in a pooled fund governed under section 75 of the 
NHS Act 2006? (This should include engagement with district councils on use of Disabled 
Facilities Grant in two tier areas). 

2. Planned contribution to social care from the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
minimum contribution is agreed in line with the BCF policy? 

3. Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out of hospital services. 
4. Plan for improving outcomes for people being discharged from hospital. 

 
For Lancashire this is a yes response to all with some aspects of meeting the conditions being 
achieved at a local level rather than through single overarching agreements.  
 
Metrics 
 
As described in the previous Board report a new set of Better Care Fund (BCF) metrics was 
introduced in 2021/22. Detail of these is provided on Appendix 'A'. 
 
In summary the following are the Lancashire responses as required: 
 

Metric Response 

Avoidable admissions Data not available to assess progress* 

Length of Stay Not on track to meet target 

Discharge to normal place of residence On track to meet target 

Residential Care Admissions On track to meet target 

Reablement On track to meet target 

 
* Latest available data is for the period until March 2022 
 
A broader summary including exploration of the challenges faced and achievements made in 
addressing these is provided at Appendix 'A'. 
 
Income and Expenditure 
 
The financial performance of the fund was in line with plan.  
 
Planned and actual income and expenditure was £166,779,719. 
 

Page 14



 

This was made up of:  
 

Disabled Facilities Grant £16,714,881   

Improved Better Care Fund £53,331,389   

CCG Minimum Fund £96,447,087   

CCG Additional Funding* £286,362   

      

  Planned 21-22 Actual 21-22 

Total BCF Pooled Fund £166,779,719 £166,779,719 

 
*Additional funding by East Lancashire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). 
 
The spending plan for the Better Care Fund plan 2021/22 is provided on Appendix 'B'. 
 
End of Year Feedback 
 
In the form of a survey the purpose is to provide an opportunity to consider the impact of 
Better Care Fund (BCF) and to provide the BCF national partners a view on the impact across 
the country. 
 
The questions are kept consistent from year to year to provide a time series.  The questions 
focus on the Delivery of the Better Care Fund (BCF) and the Successes and Challenges in 
doing so. 
 
The submission is a collation and analysis of responses from across all Lancashire BCF 
partners. Further detail is given at Appendix 'C'. 
 
In brief emerging themes are: 
 
All partners agreed or strongly agreed that: 
 
1. The overall delivery of the BCF has improved joint working between health and 
 social care in our locality 
2.  Our BCF schemes were implemented as planned in 2021-22 
3.  The delivery of our BCF plan in 2021-22 had a positive impact on the integration of 
 health and social care in our locality. 
 
Successes identified included: 
 

 Ongoing success of ICAT (Intermediate Care Allocation Teams) and CATCH (Central 

Allocation Team for Care and Health) teams in the county. ** 

 Support to developing local integrated governance structures. 

 Being able to use BCF as an enabler across BCF boundaries. 

 Supporting the move to better shared electronic records. 

 Aligning and supporting key priorities of admission avoidance and return to home. 

 Enabling joint health and social care holistic triage for patients. 

 Development of an ICS level Discharge to assess financial management group. 

 Development of the Hospital Discharge Home Recovery Scheme. 

 The pandemic saw a strengthening of existing joint working. 
 

Page 15



 

Challenges identified included: 
 

 Short term funding e.g., iBCF (Improved Better Care Fund) impacts on service stability 

and especially on workforce planning. ** 

 Some estates issues delay colocation of services. 

 Workforce planning is impacted by recruitment challenges, small staff pools, perception 
of social care as a career, retention difficulties. 

 Covid impact on the health and social care economy has been significant and will be long 
lived.  

 Separate health and social care electronic record systems cause delays and frustrations. 

 Demand management is challenging due to restricted capacity and increasing costs. 

 Implementing the National Hospital Discharge Policy against the constant Hospital 
Escalation has often led to people having less choice and control. 

 The Health and Social Care system and economy continues to have to respond to a 
significant period of change and instability. 

 

** Lancashire County Council has “gone at risk”, and invited health partners to do the same, 

to permanently fund these services giving staff stability with permanent posts and avoiding 
disruption to care support for our most vulnerable.  
 
Adult Social Care fee rates  
 
This element enables collation of financial data so as to give a local, regional and national 
picture of the status of the social care market and resulting financial pressures.  
 
For Lancashire County Council in 2021/22. 
 

 Homecare average cost per hour increased by 8.7% from £15.83 to £17.21. 

 Care Homes (aged 65+) without nursing average cost per week increased by 4.9% from 
£558.03 to £585.50. 

 Care Homes (aged 65+) with nursing average cost per week increased by 5.7% from 
£628.63 to £664.52. 

 
Better Care Fund 2022/23 and beyond 
 
As previously described, it was confirmed that the Better Care Fund (BCF) would continue 
into 2022/23.   Central delays and a pause due to pre local elections purdah has resulted in 
the publication of Better Care Fund (BCF) Policy Framework and Planning Requirements 
now expected to be mid May 2022. The Board will be advised of this when confirmed. In 
anticipation of that publication all BCF partners are working on the detail of the local and 
Lancashire wide plans. 
 
Looking further ahead; the February 2022 White Paper “Joining up care for people, places 
and populations” states: 
 
 “Later this year we will set out the policy framework for the BCF from 2023, including how 
the programme will support implementation of the new approach to integration at place level.” 
 

Page 16



 

It also states with reference to future governance arrangements:  
 
“These arrangements should, as a starting point, make use of existing structures and 
processes including Health and Wellbeing Boards and the Better Care Fund.” 
 

Page 17



Page 18



Appendix A 

Lancashire Better Care Fund Metrics 

Metric Definition For information - Your planned 
performance as reported in 2021-22 
planning 

Actual 

Avoidable 
admissions 

Unplanned hospitalisation for 
chronic ambulatory care sensitive 
conditions 
(NHS Outcome Framework 
indicator 2.3i) 

1,003.7 Not available until March 
2023 

Length of Stay Proportion of inpatients resident 
for: 
     i) 14 days or more 
     ii) 21 days or more 

14 days 
or more 
(Q3) 

14 days 
or more 
(Q4) 

21 days 
or more 
(Q3) 

21 days 
or more 
(Q4) 

14 Days 
or more 

21 days or 
more  

12.0% 12.0% 6.4% 6.4% 12.8% 7.1% 

Discharge to 
normal place of 
residence 

Percentage of people who are 
discharged from acute hospital to 
their normal place of residence 

91.1% 92.6% 
 

Res 
Admissions* 

Rate of permanent admissions to 
residential care per 100,000 
population (65+)  

600 TBC …due May 5th 

Reablement Proportion of older people (65 and 
over) who were still at home 91 
days after discharge from hospital 
into reablement / rehabilitation 
services 

87.4% TBC…due May 5th 

P
age 19

A
ppendix A



Appendix A 

Metric Challenges and Support Needs Achievements 

Avoidable 
admissions 

 Development of 2HR Urgent Community Response 
has had an impact on social care but there is no 
associated funding for social care. This links to ICAT 
and direct access for social care. 

 There have been developments in respiratory 
Virtual wards, ambulatory pathways and SDEC, 
however there has still been an increase in NEL 
demand. A Home first pathway directly from A&E 
has been implemented to deflect patients, however 
workforce challenges have impacted effectiveness, 
and the offer has not been consistent. Availability of 
step-up placements has been impacted due to C-19 
and Care home outbreaks, and Social Care Providers 
have had workforce issues, which have needed to 
be mitigated by bringing new providers online. 

 Impact of COVID increased unplanned admissions 
with regard to chronic conditions due to the nature 
of the virus                  

 Lack of packages of care - due to impacts of COVID  

 The system has struggled to maintain 2020-21 
performance. National capacity challenge.    

 We need to understand the analysis for avoidable 
admission to ensure we have the right community 
capacity for 2022/23                                                                              

 ICAT have a step-up pathway into their service which 
enables direct referral for urgent social care support to 
enable a person to remain at home and avoid admission 

  The 2hr response pathway has included Mental Health 
and Social Care, to ensure a no wrong front door approach. 
There has been a focus on trusted assessment and 
seamless referrals to reduce delays. There has been close 
joint working between local social care teams and 
community health teams, to help support people to stay 
home and prevent admission, despite C-19 challenges. 

 Consultants working within ED to allow for swift discharge, 
implementation of the SDEC (same day emergency care 
unit) that allow for treatment, return home and linking 
with community support           

    2 hr UCR introduced, pulse oximetry, virtual ward, 
C@Home, access to digital.  

                                                                      

Length of Stay Weekend Discharges remain challenging, due to Care Home 
acceptance of new admissions at weekends and some 
support services having reduced capacity over the weekend 
period. Social Care packages and EMI bed availability remain 
challenging due to C-19 outbreaks and staff sickness, 

 The review of ICAT teams has led faster discharge 
processes and supports a multidisciplinary approach to 
these patients with a long length of stay in planning 
discharge. This takes into account the Hospital Discharge 
Guidance. Introduction of Crisis Plus which is an 24/7 

P
age 20



Appendix A 

however, there is good joint working between health and 
social care to address operational issues. Community Teams 
also have staff sickness and capacity challenges, and 
workload is often prioritised for the most urgent needs, 
which is impacted planned work backlogs and waits. 

Home based care support service which is an alternative to 
residential care and supports the reduction of Length of 
stay for people with complex needs. 

 There are daily reviews of the patients awaiting discharge 
7 days a week. There is also increased focus on 'golden 
patients' and increasing discharges before 10am. The 
number of discharges in the week has increased. The home 
first pathway and D2A processes are supporting timely 
discharges, despite care market challenges. 

 Rapid Response, REACT, ICAT, Frailty teams etc. are now 
embedded in system working to improve this. 

 The introduction of weekly face to face LOS meetings with 
colleagues from LCC and Age UK along with consultants. 
Where they discuss the ‘intend to reside’ protocol along 
with the patient’s pathway and EDD. 

 

Discharge to 
normal place of 
residence 

 Capacity within the social care market. Significant 
challenges in the market with recruitment, 
vacancies and attracting new people to the market. 

 During times when there is limited capacity to 
support individuals to return home, alternative 
placements will be sought. However, these are 
always temporary and where possible include 
therapy input. The ultimate aim is to enable a return 
to home as soon as possible.  The current challenge 
has been Therapy staffing, staff vacancies and 
sickness which are sometimes delaying therapy 
input in community. 

 Care Home and intermediate care capacity 
significantly, if temporarily, increased Q3/Q4 to 
mitigate acute pressures, but policy and omicron 
worked against this. 

 

 Increased capacity within our Home First pathway has 
continued to increase the overall percentage of people 
returning home.  We have embedded an ethos of Home 
First and all of our ICAT teams work to towards an 
outcome of the person returning home. We also have a 
Roving Night service which supports people with night 
time needs and helps to avoid residential care admissions. 

 Home First pathway and Residential D2A follow up, have 
high proportions of people returning to their own home, 
and this is monitored and compared across Lancashire 
Places, to enable benchmarking. 

 The Blackpool Transfer of Care Hub is a system level co-
ordination centre that links together all local Heath & 
Social Care services to aid timely discharge from hospital. It 
consists of multi-disciplinary & interdisciplinary working, 
encompassing contribution from, and access to, a wide 

P
age 21



Appendix A 

range of services including community, primary care, social 
care, housing & the voluntary sector. 

 3rd. Sector & ICC support has significantly enriched the 
local response 

 A targeted report is produced each week; “the top 5” 
patients are discussed, and active medical plans are in put 
place for each patient.    
 

Res 
Admissions* 

Hospital escalations have continued to push residential 
admissions as the default option. Capacity within the social 
care market. Significant challenges in the market with 
recruitment, vacancies and attracting new people to the 
market. 
Lack of EMI and EMD beds across the system, home closures 
due to covid, lack of clarity re covid guidance, homes unable 
to access patients. 

 We have embedded an ethos of Home First and all of our 
ICAT teams work to towards an outcome of the person 
returning home and only in complex or exceptional 
circumstances people are discharged to a residential care 
setting. We have also increased capacity within Home First 
service provision. 

 Block purchased beds to support the system, which 
allowed for swift discharge of patients whilst waiting for 
permanent placements 

 Significant ill-health avoided by primary and community 
care initiatives re. vaccination. 

 CATCH triage referrals for pathways 1-3 which includes 
permanent admission to residential care were appropriate. 

Reablement  Pressure on reablement and rehabilitation services 
due to ongoing pandemic activity. 

 Capacity within the social care market. Significant 
challenges in the market with recruitment, 
vacancies and attracting new people to the market. 

 Our reablement service has a good track record in 
promoting independence and helping people to remain in 
their own home for as long as possible.   

 H& SC reablement programmes are embedded in system 
working 

 CATCH triage or referrals for pathways 1-3 which includes 
reablement option. 

 

P
age 22



Appendix B 

Lancashire Better Care Fund spending plan 2021/22 

Area Scheme Name Source of Funding Expenditure (£) Totals 

Lancashire Carers - Respite Minimum CCG Contribution £7,500,000 

£30,605,000 

Lancashire 
Carers - Carers Assessment & 
Support Contracts 

Minimum CCG Contribution £2,569,000 

Lancashire Residential Rehab  Minimum CCG Contribution £3,632,000 

Lancashire Urgent Care - Crisis Support Minimum CCG Contribution £1,619,000 

Lancashire Care Act Minimum CCG Contribution £5,300,000 

Lancashire Equipment & Adaptions Minimum CCG Contribution £5,785,000 

Lancashire 
Integrated Neighbourhood 
Teams 

Minimum CCG Contribution £1,600,000 

Lancashire Intermediate Care Team Minimum CCG Contribution £470,000 

Lancashire 
Lancashire Safeguarding Board 
Contribution 

Minimum CCG Contribution £124,000 

Lancashire Fee & Demand Increases  Minimum CCG Contribution £2,006,000 

Lancashire Hospital Aftercare iBCF £685,000 

£53,331,389 

Lancashire Roving Nights iBCF £660,000 

Lancashire Telecare iBCF £6,000,000 

Lancashire Reablement iBCF £8,643,000 

Lancashire Fee & Demand Increases  iBCF £28,918,000 

Lancashire DToC Additional Packages iBCF £1,000,000 

Lancashire High Impact Changes Fund iBCF £1,924,000 

Lancashire 
Promoting Independence 
Project Team 

iBCF £1,151,000 

Lancashire Urgent Care - Crisis Support iBCF £1,446,000 

Lancashire Community Equipment iBCF £130,000 

P
age 23

A
ppendix B



Appendix B 

Lancashire 
Intermediate Care Unit 
management and additional 
night staff capacity  

iBCF £400,000 

Lancashire 

Additional Staffing Capacity 
across Discharge to Assess, 
Peripatetic Team, Care 
Navigation, Area Based 
CATCH/ICAT Teams and Social 
Work Teams   

iBCF £1,349,000 

Lancashire 
Housing Options Programme 
including Neighbourhood 
Apartments  

iBCF £80,000 

Lancashire Transport Options  iBCF £100,000 

Lancashire 
Capacity to lead the 
implementation of IC  

iBCF £149,000 

Lancashire Winter schemes development iBCF £696,389 

Lancashire Disabled Facilities Grant DFG £16,714,881 £16,714,881 

Morecambe 
Bay 

Community Specialist Services Minimum CCG Contribution £775,293 

£66,128,449 

Morecambe 
Bay 

IMC Care Co-Ordination Minimum CCG Contribution £5,371,925 

Morecambe 
Bay 

Dementia advisors / carer 
support 

Minimum CCG Contribution £31,648 

Morecambe 
Bay 

MH carer support Minimum CCG Contribution £18,841 

Morecambe 
Bay 

GP advisors Minimum CCG Contribution £43,321 

Morecambe 
Bay 

Solutions Plus Minimum CCG Contribution £47,784 

P
age 24



Appendix B 

Morecambe 
Bay 

REACT Minimum CCG Contribution £106,000 

Morecambe 
Bay 

ICAT (UHMB) Minimum CCG Contribution £52,561 

Morecambe 
Bay 

Community stroke early 
supported discharge 

Minimum CCG Contribution £63,997 

Morecambe 
Bay 

Community equipment 
(MBCCG) 

Minimum CCG Contribution £901,282 

Morecambe 
Bay 

Enhanced Care Home Support Minimum CCG Contribution £846,169 

Fylde and 
Wyre 

Intermediate Care Redesign 
Fylde and Wyre 

Minimum CCG Contribution £3,597,154 

Fylde and 
Wyre 

Admissions Avoidance Fylde 
and Wyre 

Minimum CCG Contribution £6,483,953 

Chorley/ 
South Ribble 
and Greater 
Preston 

Intermediate Care Beds Minimum CCG Contribution £4,730,572 

Chorley/ 
South Ribble 
and Greater 
Preston 

Rehab Beds, Intermediate Care 
Therapist Services (includes 
RAPIDs and Therapy support to 
Rehab beds) 

Minimum CCG Contribution £1,474,200 

Chorley/ 
South Ribble 
and Greater 
Preston 

Community Hospitals - 
Longridge 

Minimum CCG Contribution £1,351,155 

P
age 25



Appendix B 

Chorley/ 
South Ribble 
and Greater 
Preston 

Falls Lifting Minimum CCG Contribution £67,691 

Chorley/ 
South Ribble 
and Greater 
Preston 

Frailty Home Based Minimum CCG Contribution £1,187,560 

Chorley/ 
South Ribble 
and Greater 
Preston 

Develop Integrated Care Teams Minimum CCG Contribution £11,574,613 

West 
Lancashire 

Building for the Future - West 
Lancashire 

Minimum CCG Contribution £5,886,290 

East 
Lancashire 

Intermediate Care Services Minimum CCG Contribution £17,218,278 

East 
Lancashire 

Intermediate Care Services 
(additional) 

Additional CCG Contribution £286,362 

East 
Lancashire 

Neighbourhoods and Primary 
Care Networks 

Minimum CCG Contribution £3,928,650 

East 
Lancashire 

Access into Urgent and 
Emergency Care 

Minimum CCG Contribution £83,150 

 

P
age 26



Appendix C 

Lancashire Better Care Fund 2021/22 Year end feedback responses 

Statement: Comments 

1. The overall delivery of the BCF has improved joint working 
between health and social care in our locality 

 There is a long-standing history of collaboratively working and more so in 
the past year however, the BCF hasn’t supported this work in isolation to 
other activity.  

 Delivery facilitated local health and social care pathway delivery 

 No wrong front door approach 

 Joint plans  

 Integrated health and social care teams working well 

 Learning from the COVID pandemic could provide new opportunities, drive 
integrated working and collaborative practice supported through the BCF. 

 We have increased step up to avoid hospital admission and more timely 
discharge.  Achieved through working collaboratively through health and 
social care. 

 

2. Our BCF schemes were implemented as planned in 2021-22  Consistent funding through BCF has allowed services to develop and grow 

 Schemes from the previous year were rolled forward into 2021-22 and 
delivered as planned. 

 Where possible, we stayed true to all BCF delivery. 

 It has ensured consistency of delivery and provided a degree of stability for 
the relevant services, encouraging opportunities for the integration of 
health and social care. A number of these services will form the foundation 
for upcoming and ongoing developments such as 2-hour Urgent 
Community Response, Enhanced Health in Care Homes and the Hospital 
Discharge and Community Support: Policy and Operating Model, amongst 
others. 

 All schemes within BCF are around integration of health and social care 
which has been invaluable though the year in supporting services. 

 Pressures related to omicron. national legislation and subsequent changes, 
especially in social care impacted on service provision. 

P
age 27

A
ppendix C



Appendix C 

Statement: Comments 

3. The delivery of our BCF plan in 2021-22 had a positive impact 
on the integration of health and social care in our locality 

 An enabler across several key areas including Neighbourhoods, wider 
community support, hospital discharge and intermediate care. 

 Regular communications between CCG, Acute Trusts and LCC have assisted 
in implementation of BCF schemes. 

 

 

 

For Successes and Challenges respondents were asked to categorise each response under one of the following categories: 

1. Local contextual factors (e.g., financial health, funding arrangements, demographics, urban vs rural 
factors) 

2. Strong, system-wide governance and systems leadership 

3. Integrated electronic records and sharing across the system with service users 
4. Empowering users to have choice and control through an asset-based approach, shared decision 
making and co-production 

5. Integrated workforce: joint approach to training and upskilling of workforce 

6. Good quality and sustainable provider market that can meet demand 

7. Joined-up regulatory approach 

8. Pooled or aligned resources 

9. Joint commissioning of health and social care 

Other 
 

Successes Local contextual factors 

 Development of the ICS Discharge to Assess Financial management group which has put good governance 
around the spend and is evolving to incorporate all areas of health and social care financial interface 

 Remote working has enabled better communication between health and social care. 
Strong, system-wide governance and systems leadership 

 We have increased step up to avoid hospital admission and more timely discharge.  Achieved through 
working collaboratively through health and social care. 

P
age 28



Appendix C 

 The formation of the local governance structures has enabled a joint vision an focus.   

 Supporting electronic record development and sharing e.g. Trusted Assessment Document  

 This new electronic TAD will minimise the challenges we currently manage with the paper handwritten 
version. 

Empowering users to have choice and control through an asset based approach, shared decision making and co-
production 

 Development of the Hospital Discharge Home Recovery scheme which aims to support people and their 
informal carers, has improved choice and control for people,  influenced national policy and guidance and 
raised the profile and importance of informal carers (shortlisted for LGC Award 2022 

Pooled or aligned resources 

 Being able to - to work across a footprint with - separate BCFs, - separate Local Authorities and - separate 
community health providers to deliver a role that serves not only to better integrate health and social care 
services, but also to ensure consistency and equity of service for our residents such as a dedicated Home First 
Transport Coordinator. 

 

Challenges Local contextual factors 

 A number of schemes have been supported due to short term funding.  This has at times meant there is a 
reliance on short term workforce and agency staffing.   

 For some Estates issues have delayed co-location of services, which is required for further integration of 
pathways.   

 Impact of covid across all areas but impacting more in some e.g. Pennine Lancashire CCG and ELHT will have 
been the ‘most Covid impacted’ NHS footprints in the UK over the last two years. 

Strong, system-wide governance and systems leadership 

 Integrated electronic records and sharing across the system with service users 
 
Good quality and sustainable provider market that can meet demand "Domiciliary care market challenges 

 Recruitment challenges and staffing shortages; recruitment is currently very difficult 
- Inability to attract and retain staff 
- Impact of Omicron, test and trace/isolation periods etc. significantly impacted care market capacity at 

key times 
- Challenges with succession planning and career progression across many health and care areas 

 - Constrained workforce particularly in more rural areas " 

 

P
age 29



P
age 30



. 
 

Lancashire Health and Wellbeing Board 
Meeting to be held on 10 May 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 
(Appendix 'A' refers) 
 
Contact for further information:  
Aidan Kirkpatrick, Consultant in Public Health  
01772 539889 Aidan.Kirkpatrick@lancashire.gov.uk  
 

 
Executive Summary 
 
This report provides an overview of the purpose of the Lancashire Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment (PNA) 2022 together with an update on the current development of the PNA 
prior to a formal public consultation taking place later this summer.  
 
Recommendation/s 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to: 
  
i) Endorse the continued development of the Lancashire Pharmaceutical Needs 

Assessment 2022. 
ii) Note the proposed public consultation that is due to take place during July/August. 
iii) Receive the final version of the PNA once completed in early Autumn 2022. 
 

 
Background 
 
The three health and wellbeing boards (HWBBs) across pan-Lancashire have a statutory 
responsibility to publish and keep up to date a statement of the needs for pharmaceutical 
services of the population in its area.  This is referred to as a Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment (PNA) and describes the needs of the citizens of the pan-Lancashire area for 
pharmacy services and includes information on:  
 

 Pharmacies across pan-Lancashire and the services they currently provide. 

 Maps of providers of pharmaceutical services across the pan-Lancashire area. 

 Pharmaceutical contractors in neighbouring health and wellbeing board areas. 

 Potential gaps in provision and likely future needs for the population of pan Lancashire. 

 Opportunities for existing pharmacies to providing local public health services and join 
the healthy living pharmacy scheme. 

 
Decisions on whether to open new pharmacies are made by our local NHS England team 
and when making the decision NHS England is required to refer to the local Pharmaceutical 
Needs Assessment (PNA).  As these decisions may be appealed or challenged via the 
courts, it is therefore important that pharmaceutical needs assessments (PNAs), both in 
their content and in the process of their construction, comply with regulations and that 

Corporate Priorities: 
Delivering better services; 
Caring for the vulnerable; 

Page 31

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Aidan.Kirkpatrick@lancashire.gov.uk


 

mechanisms are established to keep the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) up to 
date.    
 
In accordance with these regulations, the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) must 
be updated every three years and the 2022 version is currently being prepared for 
publication later this year.  
 
A sixty-day public consultation with a wide range of stakeholders, primarily notified via our 
pre-existing email distribution lists, is due to take place during July/August this year.   This 
will be supplemented by a communications and engagement plan including social media 
approaches and working in conjunction with the three Healthwatch organisations operating 
on a Pan-Lancashire basis.  Following consideration of the feedback received and any 
relevant amendments to the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) report, the three 
Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWBBs) across pan-Lancashire will then receive the final 
version of the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) for sign-off in early Autumn 2022. 
 
List of Background Papers 
 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessments (Appendix 'A') - Information pack for local authority 
Health and Wellbeing Boards (Published October 2021) 
 
 

Page 32



  

 

 
Pharmaceutical needs assessments 
 
Information pack for local authority health and 
wellbeing boards 
 
Published October 2021 

  

Page 33

Appendix A



2 

Contents  
Preface ................................................................................................................................ 4 

Summary .......................................................................................................................... 4 

Chapter 1 – introduction and legislative background ........................................................... 7 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................ 7 

2. Legislative background .............................................................................................. 7 

3. Wider context ............................................................................................................. 9 

4. Implications for health and wellbeing boards ............................................................. 9 

Chapter 2: Understanding the regulations ......................................................................... 11 

1. What the legislation says ......................................................................................... 11 

2. Definitions ................................................................................................................ 11 

Chapter 3: Overview of the process ................................................................................... 21 

1. Governance ............................................................................................................. 21 

2. Gathering of health and demographic data .............................................................. 21 

3. Public and contractor engagement .......................................................................... 22 

4. Pharmaceutical services information ....................................................................... 22 

5. Analysis and drafting ................................................................................................ 22 

6. Review and sign-off ................................................................................................. 23 

7. Consultation ............................................................................................................. 23 

8. Review, sign-off and publication .............................................................................. 23 

Chapter 4: Engagement ..................................................................................................... 25 

1. Steering group ......................................................................................................... 25 

2. Members of the public .............................................................................................. 27 

3. Contractors .............................................................................................................. 28 

Chapter 5: Information to be contained in pharmaceutical needs assessments ................ 31 

1. What the legislation says ......................................................................................... 31 

2. Localities .................................................................................................................. 32 

3. Demographic and health needs data ....................................................................... 32 

4. Provision of pharmaceutical services ....................................................................... 34 

5. Necessary services .................................................................................................. 38 

6. Other relevant services ............................................................................................ 39 

7. Other NHS services ................................................................................................. 39 

8. Maps ........................................................................................................................ 41 

9. Choice with regard to obtaining pharmaceutical services ........................................ 41 

Page 34



3 

Chapter 6: Identifying gaps and articulating needs/improvements/ better access ............. 43 

1. Background .............................................................................................................. 43 

2. Identifying gaps in provision – current provision ...................................................... 44 

Chapter 7: Consultation ..................................................................................................... 58 

1. Regulatory requirements .......................................................................................... 58 

2. Those to be consulted .............................................................................................. 58 

3. Suggested questions ............................................................................................... 59 

4. Consultation report ................................................................................................... 60 

Chapter 8: Updating of PNAs and supplementary statements ........................................... 61 

1. What the legislation says ......................................................................................... 61 

2. Subsequent pharmaceutical needs assessments .................................................... 61 

3. Supplementary statements ...................................................................................... 62 

4. Supplementary statements and pharmacy consolidations ....................................... 65 

Appendix 1 – Suggested timeline ...................................................................................... 68 

Appendix 2 – Decision-making flowchart ........................................................................... 71 

Decision-making process ............................................................................................... 71 

Appendix 3 – Template supplementary statements ........................................................... 73 

1. Opening of a new pharmacy .................................................................................... 73 

2. Closing of a pharmacy ............................................................................................. 74 

3. Consolidation of two pharmacies ............................................................................. 74 

Page 35



4 

Preface 
This information pack has no statutory standing, nor does it constitute non-statutory 
guidance, but it aims to support local authorities to interpret and implement their duties 
with regard to pharmaceutical needs assessments. 

The rules themselves are not, in the main, set out “verbatim” in this document. In order to 
make it easier to read, the detailed rules have, in most cases, been paraphrased. 
However, all those responsible for administering or applying the law must bear in mind that 
it is the law that must be applied, not the interpretation that is set out below. 

This document’s legal status is that it is an analysis of the rules of law together with 
appropriate notes of guidance, designed to assist health and wellbeing boards in 
producing pharmaceutical needs assessments within the framework of the law. It is not an 
authoritative statement of the law. 

Summary  
Section 128A of the National Health Service Act 2006 (NHS Act 2006) requires each 
health and wellbeing board to assess the need for pharmaceutical services in its area and 
to publish a statement of its assessment. Termed a ‘pharmaceutical needs assessment’, 
the NHS (Pharmaceutical Services and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013, 
as amended (the 2013 regulations) set out the minimum information that must be 
contained within a pharmaceutical needs assessment and outline the process that must be 
followed in its development. 

The 2013 regulations can be found on the legislation.gov.uk website1 . In summary they: 

• define what is meant by pharmaceutical services (regulation 3), 

• set out the minimum information requirements for a pharmaceutical needs assessment 
(regulation 4 and Schedule 1), 

• confirm when the next pharmaceutical needs assessment is to be published, or where 
a new health and wellbeing board comes into being when it is required to publish its 
first pharmaceutical needs assessment (regulations 5 and 6), 

 
 
1 NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013 

Page 36

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents


5 

• set out the circumstances where a health and wellbeing board may need to produce a 
new pharmaceutical needs assessment sooner than the usual three yearly cycle, or 
when a supplementary statement may/must be published (regulation 6), 

• set out the minimum consultation process that each health and wellbeing board is 
required to undertake during the development of its pharmaceutical needs assessment 
(regulation 8), and 

• set out specific matters that the health and wellbeing board must consider when 
drafting its pharmaceutical needs assessment (regulation 9). 

This information pack is intended to support local authority health and wellbeing boards in 
a practical way in understanding and implementing these requirements. The pack is set 
out as follows:  

• chapter 1 gives an introduction to the requirements for pharmaceutical needs 
assessments, 

• chapter 2 defines a number of the terms used in the regulations, 

• chapter 3 provides an overview of the process of developing a pharmaceutical needs 
assessment, 

• chapter 4 describes the engagement that should be undertaken whilst the document is 
being written, 

• chapter 5 sets out the information that must be contained within the pharmaceutical 
needs' assessment,  

• chapter 6 provides advice on how to identify gaps in the provision of pharmaceutical 
services,  

• chapter 7 sets out the requirement to consult on a draft of the document, and  

• chapter 8 sets out the requirements on the health and wellbeing board once the 
document is published.  

There are three appendices:  

• appendix 1 contains a suggested timeline, 

• appendix 2 contains a decision-making flowchart in relation to the requirements set out 
in chapter 8, and  

Page 37



6 

• appendix 3 contains three template supplementary statements. 

 

Page 38



7 

Chapter 1 – introduction and legislative 
background  

1. Introduction  
If a person2  wants to provide pharmaceutical services, they are required to apply to the 
NHS to be included in a pharmaceutical list. Pharmaceutical lists are compiled and as at 
October 2021 are held by NHS England and NHS Improvement. This is commonly known 
as the NHS “market entry” system.  

Under the 2013 regulations, a person who wishes to provide pharmaceutical services must 
apply to NHS England and NHS Improvement to be included in the relevant 
pharmaceutical list by proving they are able to meet a need for, or improvements or better 
access to, pharmaceutical services as set out in the relevant pharmaceutical needs 
assessment. There are exceptions to this, such as applications for benefits not foreseen in 
the pharmaceutical needs assessment or to provide pharmaceutical services on a 
distance-selling (internet or mail order only) basis. The first pharmaceutical needs 
assessments were published by primary care trusts and were required to be published by 
1 February 2011.  

From April 2013, health and wellbeing boards became responsible for pharmaceutical 
needs assessments. Within this information pack we have included hints and tips to assist 
health and wellbeing boards in drafting their pharmaceutical needs assessment.  

2. Legislative background  
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 established health and wellbeing boards. It also 
transferred responsibility to develop and update pharmaceutical needs assessments from 
primary care trusts to health and wellbeing boards with effect from 1 April 2013. At the 
same time responsibility for using pharmaceutical needs assessments as the basis for 
determining market entry to a pharmaceutical list transferred from primary care trusts to 
NHS England and NHS Improvement.  

The NHS Act 2006 (the “2006 Act”), amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012, 
sets out the requirements for health and wellbeing boards to develop and update 
pharmaceutical needs assessments and gives the Department of Health and Social Care 

 
 
2 For the purposes of this document, a person may be a pharmacy contractor or a dispensing appliance 
contractor and may operate as a sole trader, partnership or body corporate. 

Page 39



8 

powers to make regulations. The relevant extract from the 2006 Act can be found in the 
box below. 

128A Pharmaceutical needs assessments  

(1) Each Health and Well-being Board must in accordance with regulations--  

 (a) assess needs for pharmaceutical services in its area, and  

 (b) publish a statement of its first assessment and of any revised assessment. 

(2) The regulations must make provision--  

 (a) as to information which must be contained in a statement;  

 (b) as to the extent to which an assessment must take account of likely future needs;  

 (c) specifying the date by which a Health and Well-being Board must publish the     
statement of its first assessment;  

 (d) as to the circumstances in which a Health and Well-being Board must make a new 
assessment.  

(3) The regulations may in particular make provision--  

 (a) as to the pharmaceutical services to which an assessment must relate;  

 (b) requiring a Health and Well-being Board to consult specified persons about  

 specified matters when making an assessment;  

 (c) as to the manner in which an assessment is to be made;  

 (d) as to matters to which a Health and Well-being Board must have regard when making 
an assessment. 

Page 40



9 

3. Wider context 
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 also amended the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007 to introduce duties and powers for health and wellbeing 
boards in relation to joint strategic needs assessments. The aim of joint strategic needs 
assessments is to improve the health and wellbeing of the local community and reduce 
inequalities for all ages. They are not an end in themselves, but a continuous process of 
strategic assessment for the health and wellbeing needs of the local population. They will 
be used to determine what actions local authorities, the NHS and other partners need to 
take to meet health and social care needs and to improve health outcomes and address 
health inequalities.  

The preparation and consultation on the pharmaceutical needs assessment should take 
account of the joint strategic needs assessments and other relevant strategies in order to 
prevent duplication of work and multiple consultations with health groups, patients and the 
public. The development of pharmaceutical needs assessments is a separate duty to that 
of developing joint strategic needs assessments as pharmaceutical needs assessments 
will inform commissioning decisions by local authorities, NHS England and NHS 
Improvement, and clinical commissioning groups. Health and wellbeing boards may 
therefore wish to note that pharmaceutical needs assessments, as a separate statutory 
requirement, cannot be subsumed as part of these other documents but can be annexed 
to them. 

4. Implications for health and wellbeing boards 
As the pharmaceutical needs assessment is a key document for those wishing to open 
new pharmacy or dispensing appliance contractor premises, and is used by NHS England 
and NHS Improvement (and, on appeal, NHS Resolution) to determine such applications, 
there are serious implications for health and wellbeing boards who fail to meet their 
statutory duties. 

There is no right of appeal against the findings or conclusions within a pharmaceutical 
needs assessment. Health and wellbeing boards (although in reality this will be the local 
authority) therefore face the risk of a judicial review should they fail to develop a 
pharmaceutical needs assessment that complies with the minimum requirements for such 
documents as set out in the 2013 regulations, or should they fail to follow due process in 
developing their pharmaceutical needs assessment, e.g. by failing to consult properly or 
take into consideration the results of the consultation exercise undertaken, or fail to publish 
by the required deadlines. 

Page 41



10 

In addition, a pharmaceutical needs assessment that does not meet the requirements of 
the 2013 regulations, or is poorly worded, may lead to: 

• an increase in applications for premises that are not required, 

• applications being granted when they should be refused and vice versa,  

• applications for new pharmacy premises being granted but which do not meet the local 
authority’s strategic plans, and 

• an increase in the number of appeals against decisions made by NHS England and 
NHS Improvement.  

Further information on the governance arrangements that should be put in place can be 
found in chapter 3. 

Page 42



11 

Chapter 2: Understanding the regulations 

1. What the legislation says 
Regulations 3-9 and Schedule 1 of the 2013 regulations set out the requirements for 
pharmaceutical needs assessments. In summary: 

• regulation 3 provides a definition of what is meant by the term pharmaceutical services 
(see below), 

• regulation 4 and Schedule 1 set out the information that must be included, although 
health and wellbeing boards are free to include any other information that is felt to be 
relevant (see chapter 5), 

• regulations 5 and 6 confirm when a new pharmaceutical needs assessment is to be 
published by and when a supplementary statement may or must be published (see 
chapter 8), 

• regulation 7 is no longer applicable as it deals with the transitional period between 1 
April 2013 and 1 April 2015, 

• regulation 8 sets out the minimum consultation requirements (see chapter 7), and 

• regulation 9 sets out matters that the health and wellbeing board is to have regard to 
(see chapter 5). 

2. Definitions 
Within the regulations there are a number of words and phrases that need to be 
understood in the context of pharmaceutical needs assessment. The most relevant ones 
are explained below. 

2.1 Advanced services 

Advanced services are those services that pharmacy and dispensing appliance 
contractors may choose to provide if they meet the required standards. Information on 
these standards and the services themselves are set out in the Pharmaceutical Services 

Page 43



12 

(Advanced and Enhanced Services) (England) Directions 2013 which can be found in Part 
VIC of the Drug Tariff3.  

As at October 2021, the following services may be provided by pharmacies: 

• new medicine service, 

• community pharmacy seasonal influenza vaccination, 

• community pharmacist consultation service,  

• hypertension case-finding service, and 

• community pharmacy hepatitis C antibody testing service (currently until 31 March 
2022). 

In early 2022 a stop-smoking service will be introduced for patients who started their stop-
smoking journey in hospital. 

As at October 2021, the community pharmacy Covid-19 lateral flow device distribution 
service and community pharmacy Covid-19 medicines delivery service are also 
commissioned from community pharmacies. These may however not be commissioned 
when the pharmaceutical needs assessment is being drafted or published.  

There are two appliance advanced services that pharmacies and dispensing appliance 
contractors may choose to provide: 

• appliance use reviews, and 

• stoma appliance customisation. 

Further practical user information on each of the advanced services can be found on the 
Pharmaceutical Services Negotiating Committee’s website4 . 

The pharmaceutical needs assessment will need to look at the provision of each of these 
services and identify any gaps in their provision. 

2.2 Appliances 

Whilst drugs are the most common healthcare intervention and a large proportion of the 
health and wellbeing board’s population will be prescribed them on a regular or occasional 

 
 
3  Drug Tariff, NHS Business Services Authority 
4 Pharmaceutical Services Negotiating Committee 

Page 44

https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pharmacies-gp-practices-and-appliance-contractors/drug-tariff
https://psnc.org.uk/


13 

basis, a smaller proportion will require access to appliances. Those that are available on 
the NHS are set out in Part IX of the Drug Tariff5  and include: 

• catheters, 

• dressings, 

• elastic hosiery, 

• hernia support garments, 

• trusses, 

• colostomy bags, and  

• urostomy bags. 

The pharmaceutical needs assessment will therefore need to consider access to both 
drugs and appliances. 

Whilst pharmacies are required to dispense valid NHS prescriptions for all drugs, both they 
and dispensing appliance contractors may choose which appliances they provide in their 
normal course of business. They may choose to provide a certain type of appliance, or 
types of appliance, or they may choose to provide all appliances. Some pharmacies may 
choose not to provide any appliances.  A large proportion of patients who are regular users 
of appliances will have them delivered, often by dispensing appliance contractors based in 
other parts of the country (see ‘Dispensing appliance contractors’ section below). 

2.3 Controlled localities 

Controlled localities are areas that have been determined to be ‘rural in character’ by NHS 
England and NHS Improvement (or a preceding organisation) or on appeal by NHS 
Resolution. There is no one factor that determines whether or not an area is rural in 
character; rather NHS England and NHS Improvement will consider a range of factors 
which may include population density, the presence or absence of facilities, employment 
patterns, community size and distance between settlements, and the availability of public 
transport.  

 
 
5 Drug Tariff, NHS Business Services Authority  

Page 45

https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pharmacies-gp-practices-and-appliance-contractors/drug-tariff


14 

Their importance comes into play in relation to the ability for a GP practice to dispense to 
its registered patients. In order to be dispensed to, as a starting point, the patient must live 
in a controlled locality, more than 1.6km (measured in a straight line) from a pharmacy.  

2.4 Directed services 

This is a collective term for advanced and enhanced services. 

2.5 Dispensing appliance contractors 

Dispensing appliance contractors are different to pharmacy contractors because they: 

• only dispense prescriptions for appliances. They cannot dispense prescriptions for 
drugs 

• are not required to have a pharmacist 

• do not have a regulatory body 

• their premises do not have to be registered with the General Pharmaceutical Council. 

Dispensing appliance contractors tend to operate remotely, receiving prescriptions either 
via the post or the electronic prescription service, and arranging for dispensed items to be 
delivered to the patient. There are far fewer of them compared to pharmacies (there were 
111 dispensing appliance contractors as at 30 June 2021 compared to 11,201 
pharmacies). Consequently, not every health and wellbeing board will have a dispensing 
appliance contractor operating in their area, however residents will be accessing their 
services elsewhere in the country. 

2.6 Dispensing doctors/practices 

Whilst the majority of people living in the health and wellbeing board’s area will have their 
prescriptions dispensed by a pharmacy, some will have them dispensed by their GP 
practice. In order to be dispensed to by their GP practice, a patient must meet the 
requirements in the regulations which in summary are: 

• they must live in a controlled locality, 

• they must live more than 1.6km (measured in a straight line) from a pharmacy, 

• the practice must have approval for the premises at which they will dispense to them, 
and  

Page 46



15 

• the practice must have the appropriate consent for the area the patient lives in. 

NHS England and NHS Improvement is required to maintain and publish a dispensing 
doctor list for the area of each health and wellbeing board. However, if there are no 
controlled localities within a health and wellbeing board’s area there will be no dispensing 
doctors. 

GP practices may have premises within a town and still be able to dispense because some 
of their patients live in a controlled locality and meet the other requirements of the 
regulations. Dispensing practices are not required to have a pharmacist in their dispensary 
and their premises do not have to be registered with the General Pharmaceutical Council. 

2.7 Distance selling premises 

Distance selling premises are pharmacies, but the 2013 regulations do not allow them to 
provide essential services to people on a face-to-face basis. They will receive prescriptions 
either via the electronic prescription service or through the post, dispense them at the 
pharmacy and then either deliver them to the patient or arrange for them to be delivered 
using a courier, for example. 

They must provide essential services to anyone, anywhere in England, where requested to 
do so. They may choose to provide advanced services, but when doing so must ensure 
that they do not provide any element of the essential services whilst the patient is at the 
pharmacy premises. As of 30 June 2021, there were 379 distance selling premises in 
England, based in 115 health and wellbeing boards. Not every health and wellbeing board 
therefore has one in their area, however it is likely that some of their residents will use one. 

2.8 Enhanced services 

Enhanced services are the third tier of services that pharmacies may provide and they can 
only be commissioned by NHS England and NHS Improvement. The services that may be 
commissioned are listed in the Pharmaceutical Services (Advanced and Enhanced 
Services) (England) Directions 2013 (as amended) which can be found in the Drug Tariff6. 

Whilst the local authority may commission public health services from pharmacies these 
do not fall within the legal definition of enhanced services and are not to be referenced as 
such in the pharmaceutical needs assessment. See ‘locally commissioned services’ below. 

 
 
6 Drug Tariff, NHS Business Services Authority 

Page 47

https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pharmacies-gp-practices-and-appliance-contractors/drug-tariff


16 

2.9 Essential services 

All pharmacies, including distance selling premises, are required to provide the essential 
services. As of October 2021, there are seven essential services. 

(i) dispensing of prescriptions, 

(ii) dispensing of repeat prescriptions i.e. prescriptions which contain more 
than one months’ supply of drugs on them. For example, an electronic 
repeatable prescription may say that the prescription interval is every 28 
days and it can be repeated six times. This would give a patient 
approximately six months’ supply of medication, dispensed every 28 days 
with the prescriber only needing to authorise them once. 

(iii) disposal of unwanted medicines returned to the pharmacy by someone 
living at home, in a children’s home, or in a residential care home7. 

(iv) promotion of healthy lifestyles, which includes providing advice to people 
who appear to have diabetes, be at risk of coronary heart disease 
(especially those with high blood pressure), or smoke, or are overweight, 
and participating in six health campaigns where requested to do so by 
NHS England and NHS Improvement. 

(v) signposting people who require advice, treatment or support that the 
pharmacy cannot provide to another provider of health or social care 
services, where the pharmacy has that information. 

(vi) support for self-care which may include advising on over the counter 
medicines or changes to the person’s lifestyle. 

(vii) discharge medicines service. This service was introduced in 2021 and 
aims to reduce the risk of medication problems when a person is 
discharged from hospital. It is estimated that 60 percent of patients have 
three or more changes made to their medicines during a hospital stay. 
However, a lack of robust communication about these changes may result 
in errors being made once the person has left hospital. In summary, under 
this service a pharmacist will review a person’s medicines on discharge 
and ensure that any changes are actioned accordingly. 

 
 
7 Residential care home’ is defined in the 2013 regulations as an establishment which exists wholly or mainly 
for the provision of residential accommodation, together with board and personal care, for persons in need of 
personal care because of old age, mental or physical disability, past or present dependence on alcohol or 
drugs, any past illnesses, or past or present mental disorder. 

Page 48



17 

Further information on the essential services requirements can be found in Schedule 4 of 
the 2013 regulations. 

Dispensing appliance contractors have a narrower range of services that they must 
provide: 

• dispensing of prescriptions. 

• dispensing of repeat prescriptions. 

• for certain appliances, offer to deliver them to the patient (delivering in unbranded 
packaging), provide a supply of wipes and bags, and provide access to expert clinical 
advice. 

• where the contractor cannot provide a particular appliance, signposting or referring a 
patient to another provider of appliances who can. 

Further information on the essential services requirements can be found in Schedule 5 of 
the 2013 regulations. 

It should be noted that clinical governance is not an essential service. Instead it is a 
framework which underpins the provision of all pharmaceutical services. 

2.10 Local pharmaceutical services 

NHS England and NHS Improvement does not hold signed contracts with the majority of 
pharmacies. Instead, pharmacies provide services under a contractual framework and the 
terms of service are set out in the 2013 regulations. 

The one exception to this rule is local pharmaceutical services. A local pharmaceutical 
services contract allows NHS England and NHS Improvement to commission services that 
are tailored to meet specific local requirements. It provides flexibility to include within a 
locally negotiated contract a broader or narrower range of services (including services not 
traditionally associated with pharmacy) than is possible under national pharmacy 
arrangements set out in the 2013 regulations. The contract must, however, include an 
element of dispensing. 

As of 30 June 2021, there were 23 local pharmaceutical services contracts in 21 health 
and wellbeing boards. 

Care should be taken when using the term local pharmaceutical services as it has a 
specific meaning in the 2013 regulations. It must not be used to describe pharmaceutical 
services that are provided locally. 

Page 49



18 

2.11 Locally commissioned services 

Locally commissioned services is not a term that can be found within the 2013 regulations 
but is often used to describe those services commissioned from pharmacies by local 
authorities and clinical commissioning groups. As noted in the definition of enhanced 
services above, they are not enhanced services because they are not commissioned by 
NHS England and NHS Improvement. 

Health and wellbeing boards should make reference to them in their pharmaceutical needs 
assessment as other NHS services (see below). 

2.12 Necessary services 

The 2013 regulations require the health and wellbeing board to include a statement of 
those pharmaceutical services that it has identified as being necessary to meet the need 
for pharmaceutical services within the pharmaceutical needs assessment. There is no 
definition of necessary services within the regulations and the health and wellbeing board 
therefore has complete freedom in this matter. 

2.13 Opening hours 

Pharmacies and dispensing appliance contractors have two different types of opening 
hours – core and supplementary. 

In general pharmacies will have either 40 or 100 core opening hours per week, although 
some may have a number that is between 40 and 100, and some may have less than 40. 

Dispensing appliance contractors are required to have not less than 30 core opening hours 
per week, although some may have more or less. 

Core opening hours can only be changed by first applying to NHS England and NHS 
Improvement.  As with all applications, they may be granted or refused. 

Any opening hours that are over and above the core opening hours are called 
supplementary opening hours. They can be changed by giving NHS England and NHS 
Improvement at least three months’ notice. 

2.14 Other NHS services 

Other NHS services are those services that are provided as part of the health service. 
They include services that are provided or arranged by a local authority (for example the 
public health services commissioned from pharmacies), NHS England and NHS 

Page 50



19 

Improvement, a clinical commissioning group, an NHS trust or an NHS foundation trust. 
Examples are included in chapter 5. 

It is anticipated that from April 2022 clinical commissioning groups will be replaced by 
integrated care boards that will be able to take on delegated responsibility for 
pharmaceutical services, and from April 2023 NHS England and NHS Improvement 
expects all integrated care boards to have done so. Health and wellbeing boards should 
therefore be aware that some services that are commissioned from pharmacies by clinical 
commissioning groups (and are therefore other NHS services) will move to the integrated 
care boards and will fall then within the definition of enhanced services. 

2.15 Other relevant services 

These are services that the health and wellbeing board is satisfied are not necessary to 
meet the need for pharmaceutical services but their provision has secured improvements, 
or better access, to pharmaceutical services. 

Once the health and wellbeing board has determined which of all the pharmaceutical 
services provided in or to its area are necessary services, the remainder will be other 
relevant services. 

2.16 Pharmaceutical services 

Section 126 of the 2006 Act places an obligation on NHS England and NHS Improvement 
to put arrangements in place so that drugs, medicines and listed appliances ordered via 
NHS prescriptions can be supplied to persons.  

Pharmaceutical services is a collective term for a range of services commissioned by NHS 
England and NHS Improvement. In relation to pharmaceutical needs assessments it 
includes: 

• essential, advanced and enhanced services provided by pharmacies, 

• essential and advanced services provided by dispensing appliance contractors, 

• the dispensing service provided by some GP practices, and 

• services provided under a local pharmaceutical services contract that are the 
equivalent of essential, advanced and enhanced services.  

Page 51



20 

2.17 Unforeseen benefit applications 

The pharmaceutical needs assessment sets out needs for, or improvements or better 
access to, a range of pharmaceutical services or one specific service. This then triggers 
applications to meet those needs or secure those improvements or better access. 

However, there are two types of application which lead to the opening of new premises 
that are not based on the pharmaceutical needs’ assessments – those offering unforeseen 
benefits and those for distance selling premises. In 2020, these two types of applications 
accounted for approximately 94 percent of the applications submitted to open new 
premises (approximately 27 percent and 67 percent respectively). 

Where an applicant submits an unforeseen benefits application, they are offering 
improvements or better access that were not foreseen when the pharmaceutical needs 
assessment was written, but would confer significant benefits on people in the area of the 
health and wellbeing board. 

 

Page 52



21 

Chapter 3: Overview of the process 
There are eight key stages to developing a pharmaceutical needs assessment. A high-
level timeline can be found in appendix 1 and this chapter provides a narrative for the 
process. The timeline assumes that health and wellbeing boards will have started the 
process of establishing their steering group and that the first meeting has been scheduled 
for October 2021. If that is not the case it should be possible to reduce the time allowed for 
various stages of the process, and these are highlighted in the following commentary. 

1. Governance 
The health and wellbeing board should ensure that there is board level sign-up to the 
process of developing the pharmaceutical needs assessment, and a named board 
member who will take overall responsibility for ensuring the document meets the 
regulatory requirements and is published in a timely manner.  

As health and wellbeing boards are under a statutory duty to produce and publish their 
next pharmaceutical needs assessment in 2022, it is imperative that sufficient resources, 
both human and financial, are identified and that there is board level support for the 
development of the document. Due to the serious consequences of not following due 
process in developing the pharmaceutical needs assessment, it is recommended that the 
board includes production of the pharmaceutical needs assessment in the council’s risk 
register.  

It is strongly recommended that a steering group is established to support the process 
(see chapter 4) and this will need to be done early on, allowing members sufficient notice 
of the first meeting. An outline agenda for the first meeting can be found in chapter 4. 

2. Gathering of health and demographic data 
The gathering of the required health and demographic data can commence in advance of 
the first steering group meeting as it is information that will be held by the public health 
team. It will, however, require liaison with other departments and teams within the council, 
for example highways and planning teams for information on known housing 
developments, regeneration projects or transport developments that are current or will 
occur within the lifetime of the pharmaceutical needs assessment. Four weeks has been 
allowed for this within the timeline, however it may not take as long as this which will allow 
the timeline to be shortened if necessary, or more time made available for other elements 
of the project. 

Page 53



22 

Once this data is gathered it will then need to be analysed, unless this has already been 
done as part of the joint strategic needs assessment (it is recognised that due to the 
ongoing Covid-19 pandemic the joint strategic needs assessment documents are unlikely 
to have been updated recently).  Three weeks has been allowed for this within the 
timeline. 

3. Public and contractor engagement 
Whilst not required by the regulations it is strongly recommended that the views of the 
public are gathered. This will allow the health and wellbeing board to test some of its 
assumptions around how people may access services, for example, and provide useful 
information for the document. 

Suggested topics for questions can be found in chapter 4 and it is suggested that the 
questionnaire starts shortly after the first steering group meeting, running for four weeks. 
Three weeks has been allowed in the timeline for analysis of the responses, however this 
could be shortened if most of the questions do not allow free text questions and if not 
many off-system responses (e.g. paper copies of the questionnaire) are received. 

Similarly, it will also be necessary to gather information from those who are providing the 
services that is not otherwise already in the public domain. Suggested information that will 
need to be collected from contractors can be found in chapter 4. As with the public 
questionnaire, four weeks has been allowed for this in the timeline, with two weeks for 
analysis of responses as the questionnaire can be run solely online and the majority of 
questions are likely to have tick box answers. 

4. Pharmaceutical services information 
Much of the information on the provision of pharmaceutical services can be sourced from 
the NHS Business Services Authority website, with supplementary information from NHS 
England and NHS Improvement. However, some of it will need to be gathered from 
contractors via questionnaires. 

Two weeks has been allowed in the timeline for the collation of this information with four 
weeks to analyse and map service provision - see chapter 5 for further information on this 
element of the project. 

5. Analysis and drafting 
As the required data and information is gathered the document can begin to be drafted. It 
is recommended that a checklist of the statements that must be included is produced in 

Page 54



23 

order to ensure the document meets the requirements of the 2013 regulations. Twelve 
weeks has been allowed for in the timeline for this stage, although this could be shortened 
if required. The steering group will need to decide whether it wishes to receive chapters as 
they are drafted or whether it would prefer to wait until a complete full draft of the 
document is available, 

6. Review and sign-off 
Once the analysis and drafting is complete the steering group will then need to review the 
document, identify any gaps in provision that either currently exist or will arise within the 
three-year lifetime of the document and articulate these as needs for, or improvements or 
better access to, a pharmaceutical service or services. The next draft of the document can 
then be produced and shared with the steering group and two weeks has been allowed for 
this in the timeline. 

The pharmaceutical needs assessment will then need to be signed off by the steering 
group or passed to the relevant committee or the board for sign-off prior to the 
consultation. 

7. Consultation 
The health and wellbeing board must consult with certain organisations about the contents 
of the pharmaceutical needs assessment at least once, and that consultation must run for 
a minimum period of 60 days. Further information on the consultation requirements can be 
found in chapter 7. 

The timeline has allowed seven weeks for sign off of the document if this is to be done by 
the health and wellbeing board recognising that there will be a lead-in time for papers and 
that the board may not meet every month. The timeline schedules the consultation to start 
in June 2022. However if the board delegates sign-off of the consultation draft of the 
pharmaceutical needs assessment to the steering group the consultation can be brought 
forward by a number of weeks, or if the first meeting of the steering group does not take 
place in October then delegating sign-off of the consultation draft to the steering group will 
allow for time to be caught up.  

8. Review, sign-off and publication 
A report on the consultation must be included in the final version of the document, and the 
steering group will need to review the responses to the consultation and agree what, if 
any, changes are to be made to the document. A week has been allowed in the timeline 
for review of the responses and production of the first draft of the consultation report which 

Page 55



24 

will be a summary of the responses received. The steering group will need to review the 
responses to the consultation, and agree its response to the points raised which is then to 
be included in the report. The steering group will also need to consider what, if any, 
changes needs to be made to the document as a result of the consultation. Not much time 
has been included in the timeline for this stage because if robust engagement has been 
undertaken throughout the process of drafting the document there should be no surprises 
from the consultation. 

Once the document is finalised it will then need to be signed-off by the relevant committee 
or the health and wellbeing board and published. Four weeks has been allowed for in the 
timeline for this stage, and it assumes that there will be a committee/board meeting in 
September 2022. If that is not the case then the timeline will need to be amended 
accordingly. 

The regulations are silent as to how or where it is published, however it is recommended 
that it is published on the local authority’s website. If it is published on another website, 
then a link to that site must be included on the local authority's website, as the health and 
wellbeing board is under a duty to ensure that NHS England and NHS Improvement has 
access to the document and any supplementary statements that are included alongside it. 

Page 56



25 

Chapter 4: Engagement 
The health and wellbeing board will need to undertake engagement with the key 
stakeholders throughout the process of developing the pharmaceutical needs assessment, 
and this is a separate process to the formal consultation. This can be done via: 

• the steering group, 

• a public questionnaire, and 

• contractor questionnaires. 

1. Steering group 
As noted in the previous chapter it is strongly recommended that a steering group is 
established to support the process, with representation from: 

• the public health team, 

• the communications and engagement team, 

• the local pharmaceutical committee, 

• the local medical committee if there are dispensing practices in the health and 
wellbeing board’s area, 

• Healthwatch, 

• NHS England and NHS Improvement, 

• the clinical commissioning group (noting that it will be replaced by the integrated care 
system with effect from 1 April 2022), and 

• the integrated care system. 

The primary role of the group is to advise and develop structures and processes to support 
the preparation of a comprehensive, well researched, well considered and robust 
pharmaceutical needs assessment, building on expertise from across the local healthcare 
community. Establishing the group will also ensure that the views of the main stakeholders 
are taken into account throughout the process of writing the document. 

The steering group could report directly to the health and wellbeing board or to another 
committee in line with the council’s usual reporting structures. The health and wellbeing 

Page 57



26 

board will need to decide how much it wishes to delegate to the steering group; for 
example does it wish to sign-off the consultation version of the pharmaceutical needs 
assessment or will it delegate this to the group. 

As there will be local experience of producing pharmaceutical needs assessments it may 
not be necessary for the steering group to meet on a monthly basis. As health and 
wellbeing boards will have some experience of producing a pharmaceutical needs 
assessment it may only be necessary for there to be four meetings. 

At the first meeting the steering group would look to agree the following: 

• the terms of reference for the group, 

• the project timeline, 

• how the area will be divided up into localities, 

• the content of the contractor questionnaire or questionnaires depending on whether 
there are dispensing appliance contractors and dispensing doctors in the area as well 
as pharmacies, 

• the content of the public engagement questionnaire, how it will be made available and 
any other ways of engaging with the public, and 

• the structure of the document. 

The second meeting would take place once a complete draft of the document is available 
and would consider whether there are any gaps in the provision of services currently, or 
any that will arise within the lifetime of the document. These are then to be articulated as 
needs, improvements, or better access.  

A third meeting may be required to sign off the consultation version of the document either 
for recommendation to the health and wellbeing board or so that it can go out to 
consultation. Alternatively, this could be done via email. 

The fourth meeting would be held after the consultation. At this meeting the group will 
review the responses to the consultation, consider whether any changes are to be made to 
the pharmaceutical needs assessment and agree the response to the consultation. 

A final meeting may be required to sign off the final version of the document either for 
recommendation to the health and wellbeing board or so that it can be published. 
Alternatively, this could be done via email. 

Page 58



27 

2. Members of the public 
It would be difficult to draft a pharmaceutical needs assessment without involving patients 
and the public, and it is recommended that involving them is not left until the formal 
consultation. To this end it is recommended that views of patients and the public are 
sought at the same time as the contractor questionnaires are open. 

To date the majority of engagement with the public has been via online questionnaires. 
However, health and wellbeing boards should be aware that not everyone can access the 
internet or read. Consideration should therefore be given as to how the views of those 
groups can be gained and Healthwatch and the council’s communications and 
engagement team will be best placed to advise and assist with this. This could include 
views being sought at meetings, focus groups or via telephone calls.  Engagement with 
harder to reach groups will also need to be considered as part of this process, as some 
patient groups are less likely to engage with general practice but may seek healthcare 
advice from other sources such as pharmacies.  This is especially true where language 
barriers exist, or for groups that are not permanently resident in the area (such as Traveller 
and Gypsy communities). 

Online questionnaires should be promoted as widely as possible, and the steering group 
may wish to consider the use of posters with QR codes displayed in pharmacies, GP 
practices, health centres etc. Consideration should also be given to providing flyers to be 
included in bags of dispensed medication by pharmacies and dispensing practices. 
Questionnaires can be included in the council’s consultations section on the website which 
will then ensure that those who have registered for consultation alerts are made aware of 
it. The steering group may also wish to consider a press release. 

Suggested questions for the questionnaire could include: 

(i) why do you usually visit a pharmacy? 

(ii) how often do you use a pharmacy? 

(iii) what time is most convenient for you to use a pharmacy? 

(iv) what day is the most convenient for you to use a pharmacy? 

(v) do you use the same pharmacy or different pharmacies? 

(vi) what influences your choice of pharmacy? 

(vii) is there a more convenient and/or closer pharmacy that you don’t use and 
why is that? 

Page 59



28 

(viii) how do you travel to the pharmacy and how long does it usually take? 

Providing multiple choice answers will speed up analysis but free text options will be 
required for some of the questions. 

As with the contractor questionnaires it is recommended that only the information that is 
required for the pharmaceutical needs assessment is asked for. 

3. Contractors 
Most of the information regarding the provision of pharmaceutical services is publicly 
available, however some will need to be sourced from the contractors themselves.  

The most common information asked for in contractor questionnaires is: 

• premises opening hours, 

• services provided, 

• premises facilities,  

• services that could be provided, 

• languages spoken, 

• IT facilities, and 

• private services that may be provided. 

It is recommended that the contractor questionnaire is kept as short as possible and to 
only seek information that is required for the pharmaceutical needs assessment and 
cannot be sourced elsewhere. 

NHS England and NHS Improvement will have records showing the core and 
supplementary opening hours for each pharmacy and dispensing appliance contractor (if 
any). As there is a process to be gone through to change those opening hours it is 
recommended that the health and wellbeing board uses the opening hours that NHS 
England and NHS Improvement holds. 

Information on which advanced services are provided can be sourced from the NHS 
Business Services Authority website (see chapter 5), with information on the newer 
services available from NHS England and NHS Improvement as pharmacies may have 
signed up to provide one or more of them but not yet have had the opportunity to provide 

Page 60



29 

the service(s). Information on any enhanced services that are commissioned and who 
provides them can also be provided by NHS England and NHS Improvement. 

All pharmacies, with two exceptions, are now required to have a consultation room that is: 

• clearly designated as a room for confidential conversations, 

• distinct from the general public areas of the pharmacy premises, and 

• a room where both the person accessing pharmaceutical services and a person 
performing pharmaceutical services are able to be seated together and communicate 
confidentially. 

The two exceptions are: 

(i) distance selling premises, and 

(ii) pharmacies that NHS England and NHS Improvement have deemed to be 
too small to have a consultation room. 

However, these pharmacies must have arrangements in place to enable confidential 
discussions as part of the provision of pharmaceutical services by telephone or another 
live audio link and a live video link. 

NHS England and NHS Improvement will be able to confirm whether any pharmacies fall 
within the second bullet point above and the health and wellbeing board will be able to 
identify any distance selling premises from the pharmaceutical list for its area. 

The information that health and wellbeing boards are most likely to need to ask as part of 
the contractor questionnaire are: 

(a) whether prescriptions for appliances are dispensed at the premises, and 
whether all appliances are provided or just specific types. 

(b) if the contractor provides a delivery service, whether it is free of charge or 
chargeable, and whether it is restricted to certain patient groups (noting that 
distance selling premises must deliver all dispensed NHS items without 
charge). 

(c) what languages are spoken each day at the premises other than English. 

(d) recognising that the demand for services is increasing, asking: 

Page 61



30 

(i) do they have capacity to manage that increase within their existing 
premises and staffing levels, 

(ii) if they do not, could they make adjustments to manage an increase in 
demand, or 

(iii) to confirm they do not have sufficient premises and staffing capacity and 
would have difficulty in managing an increase in demand. 

The same questions can be asked of any dispensing appliance contractors and dispensing 
doctors in the health and wellbeing board’s area. 

Page 62



31 

Chapter 5: Information to be contained in 
pharmaceutical needs assessments 

1. What the legislation says 
Regulation 4 and Schedule 1 of the 2013 regulations outline the minimum requirements for 
pharmaceutical needs assessments. In addition, regulation 9 sets out matters that the 
health and wellbeing board is to have regard to. 

In summary the regulations require a series of statements of: 

• the pharmaceutical services that the health and wellbeing board has identified as 
services that are necessary to meet the need for pharmaceutical services; 

• the pharmaceutical services that have been identified as services that are not provided 
but which the health and wellbeing board is satisfied need to be provided in order to 
meet a current or future need for a range of pharmaceutical services or a specific 
pharmaceutical service; 

• the pharmaceutical services that the health and wellbeing board has identified as not 
being necessary to meet the need for pharmaceutical services but have secured 
improvements or better access; 

• the pharmaceutical services that have been identified as services that would secure 
improvements or better access to a range of pharmaceutical services or a specific 
pharmaceutical service, either now or in the future; and 

• other NHS services that affect the need for pharmaceutical services or a specific 
pharmaceutical service. 

Other information that is to be included or taken into account is: 

• how the health and wellbeing board has determined the localities in its area; 

• how it has taken into account the different needs of the different localities, and the 
different needs of those who share a protected characteristic; 

• a report on the consultation; 

• a map that identifies the premises at which pharmaceutical services are provided; 

• information on the demography of the area; 

Page 63



32 

• whether there is sufficient choice with regard to obtaining pharmaceutical services; 

• any different needs of the different localities; and 

• the provision of pharmaceutical services in neighbouring health and wellbeing board 
areas. 

This chapter looks as these requirements in more detail. 

2. Localities 
The regulations require the health and wellbeing board to divide its area up into localities. 
There is no right or wrong way of doing this, but it is suggested that the steering group 
uses existing boundaries such as: 

• borough or district council boundaries should there be any,  

• super output areas, 

• electoral wards, or 

• clinical commissioning group localities (recognising that clinical commissioning groups 
will cease to exist from 1 April 2022). 

It may help to consider on what geographical basis the required information can be 
sourced – there is little to be gained by dividing the area up only to find that data cannot be 
sourced at that level. 

Health and wellbeing boards should be mindful that the localities should not be so large 
that they mask variations in need, but not too small that the document becomes too 
unwieldy (the 2013 regulations also require the pharmaceutical needs assessment to have 
regard to the different needs of the different localities). Once the basis for the localities has 
been decided the justification for this must be included in the pharmaceutical needs 
assessment as this is a requirement of the 2013 regulations. 

3. Demographic and health needs data 
The 2013 regulations require the health and wellbeing board to have regard to the 
demography of its area. It is therefore recommended that the pharmaceutical needs 
assessment contains a chapter on the demographics of the population, and a second 
chapter on their general health needs. 

Page 64



33 

Much of the required demographic data will already be available and contained within the 
joint strategic needs assessment. Health and wellbeing boards will wish to note that once 
their pharmaceutical needs assessment is published, any cross-reference in that 
pharmaceutical needs assessment to other published documents such as a specific 
version of the joint strategic needs assessment will be fixed at that point. In other words, 
relevant subsequent revisions to a joint strategic needs assessment following publication 
of the pharmaceutical needs assessment may not be adequately reflected in the 
pharmaceutical needs assessment unless the pharmaceutical needs assessment itself is 
subsequently revised. It is therefore recommended that information from other documents 
is copied into the pharmaceutical needs assessment rather than create a link between the 
pharmaceutical needs assessment and other documents. 

Information on the current population and the changes expected within the three-year 
lifetime of the document will need to be included. Information on known housing 
developments (including the projected number of houses to be built within the three-year 
period) and regeneration projects will be available from the planning department. The 
highways department will be able to provide information on any highways developments 
that may affect, either positively or negatively, how people access services now and in the 
future. The Department of Health and Social Care Office for Health Improvement and 
Disparities’ Strategic Health Asset Planning and Evaluation (SHAPE) application8  also 
contains demographic data that will be of use. 

The joint strategic needs assessment and public health team will also be able to provide 
the required information on the health needs of the population. Other sources of such data 
include the Department of Health and Social Care Office for Health Improvement and 
Disparities’ public health profiles9  and SHAPE application and GP quality and outcomes 
framework data published by NHS Digital10 .  

Health and wellbeing boards may wish to then include a chapter which looks at how the 
health needs of the population can be met by the provision of pharmaceutical services. It 
should be borne in mind that when assessing the need for pharmaceutical services, it is 
not possible for such services to meet all of the health needs of the population. By 
including a chapter which identifies those that can be met will help focus attention when it 
comes to the identification of any gaps in service provision. 

Once the overall health needs of the population have been identified, along with those that 
can be met by the provision of pharmaceutical services, the pharmaceutical needs 
assessment will then need to identify the different needs of those who share a protected 

 
 
8  Department of Health and Social Care Office for Health Improvement and Disparities’ Strategic Health 
Asset Planning and Evaluation application 
9  Department of Health and Social Care Office for Health Improvement and Disparities’ public health profiles 
10 NHS Digital quality and outcomes framework 

Page 65

https://shapeatlas.net/
https://shapeatlas.net/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/quality-and-outcomes-framework-achievement-prevalence-and-exceptions-data


34 

characteristic as defined in the Equality Act 201011. It is recommended that the 
pharmaceutical needs assessment also identifies other patient groups that may exist 
within the area for example: 

• university students (including how the relevant term times can impact on service 
needs), 

• offenders, 

• homeless and rough sleepers, 

• refugees and asylum seekers, 

• military veterans, and 

• visitors to the area for business, holiday, sporting events or visiting friends and 
relatives. 

This requirement of the regulations can be met by including a chapter which identifies the 
different patient groups within the health and wellbeing board’s area and what their specific 
needs are for pharmaceutical services.  

Information on the number of visitors to the area may be available on the Visit Britain 
website12 . 

4. Provision of pharmaceutical services 
NHS England and NHS Improvement is required to prepare, maintain and publish a list of 

• the pharmacies in a health and wellbeing board’s area (the pharmaceutical list),  

• the dispensing appliance contractors (if any, also referred to as the pharmaceutical 
list),  

• the dispensing doctors (if any, referred to as the dispensing doctor list), and  

• a list of those providing services under a local pharmaceutical services contract (if any, 
referred to as the local pharmaceutical services list).  

 
 
11 Chapter 1, Equality Act 2010 
12 Visit Britain inbound research and insights 

Page 66

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
https://www.visitbritain.org/inbound-research-insights


35 

Health and wellbeing boards will therefore need to ask NHS England and NHS 
Improvement for a copy of the pharmaceutical list or lists and dispensing doctor list (if 
there is one) for their area. They may also wish to ask for a copy of the consolidated 
pharmaceutical and local pharmaceutical services list which pulls together all the lists as 
this will assist in the identification of out of area providers. 

The pharmaceutical lists contain the organisation data service code (also known as the F 
code) for each of the pharmacies and dispensing appliance contractor premises. These 
codes will be required to assist in analysing service provision. 

Information on the number of items dispensed by each pharmacy and dispensing 
appliance contractor, along with activity for some of the advanced services is available on 
the NHS Business Services Authority website. 

(a) pharmacy and appliance contractor dispensing data13  – each month a report 
is published which contains information on the provision of some of the 
essential and advanced services. 

(i) number of items dispensed 

(ii) number of new medicine service interventions claimed 

(iii) number of appliance use reviews and stoma appliance customisations 
claimed 

(iv) number of community pharmacist consultation service fees claimed 

(v) number of Community Pharmacy Hepatitis C Antibody Testing Service 
Fees 

(vi) number of Community Pharmacy Completed Transactions for Covid-19 
Lateral Flow Device Distribution Service 

(b) information on the number of flu vaccinations given is available via Catalyst14  
(individual log-ins not required). 

All of the above information is provided on a national basis so the F codes will be needed 
to extract the relevant information. 

Normally it would be recommended that the most recent financial year’s activity data is 
used for the pharmaceutical needs assessment. However, the Covid-19 pandemic affected 

 
 
13 NHS Business Services Authority, pharmacy and appliance contractor dispensing data monthly reports 
14 NHS Business Services Authority, Catalyst public insight portal 

Page 67

https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/prescription-data/dispensing-data/dispensing-contractors-data
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/prescription-data/dispensing-data/advanced-service-flu-report


36 

the provision of many pharmaceutical services such that activity levels for 2020/2021 are 
unlikely to be an accurate reflection of the level of provision that would normally be seen. It 
is therefore suggested that health and wellbeing boards consider using data from the two 
financial years of 2019/2020 and 2020/2021 and as much data for 2021/2022 as is 
available, noting that information is not published until three months after the services 
were provided. For example, activity undertaken in July 2021 will not be published until 10 
October 2021.  

Inclusion of this data within the pharmaceutical needs assessment will allow any effect of 
the pandemic on service provision to be identified and explained. For example, the number 
of new medicine service reviews undertaken is likely to be lower in 2020/2021 due to 
national and local lockdowns and pharmacies focussing on dispensing prescriptions and 
dealing with requests for support, not because pharmacies chose not to offer the service. 

Information on the remaining advanced services and any enhanced services that may be 
commissioned is available from NHS England and NHS Improvement, particularly for the 
new advanced services where pharmacies may have signed up to provide the service but 
have not yet had the opportunity to provide it. 

Information on the number of dispensing patients registered with dispensing GP practices 
is also available via Catalyst in the ‘practice list size and GP count’ report. 

As well as identifying the provision of pharmaceutical services by contractors within the 
health and wellbeing board’s area the pharmaceutical needs assessment will also need to 
identify provision by contractors who are outside of the area. In order to do this the 
organisation data codes for all the services that generate prescriptions will be required. 
These can be either be provided by the clinical commissioning group or sourced from NHS 
Digital15 . 

Services that generate prescriptions include the GP practices but may also include the 
following: 

• GP out of hours providers, 

• GP extended access hubs, 

• prisons (although many prescriptions for patients in prison are dispensed under 
separate contracts and so do not fall within the definition of pharmaceutical services), 

• urgent care centres and walk-in centres, 

 
 
15 NHS Digital, organisation data service portal 

Page 68

https://odsportal.digital.nhs.uk/


37 

• substance misuse services, 

• end of life services, and 

• community nursing teams. 

Once the list of services and codes has been collated it will then be possible to identify 
where all the prescriptions written are dispensed using the monthly practice prescribing 
dispensing data reports published by NHS Business Services Authority16. It should be 
noted that these reports are very large as they contain information on where all the 
prescriptions written in England are dispensed. However, once the information relevant to 
the health and wellbeing board’s area is extracted it will be easier to manipulate. 

The data can be analysed by: 

• prescribing service so as to identify the total number of items prescribed in a fixed 
period by each practice and service, and  

• dispenser which will allow the identification of out of area providers of the dispensing 
service. 

Once the out of area providers have been identified they can be classified as either a 
pharmacy or dispensing appliance contractor by using the consolidated pharmaceutical 
list. They can also be identified by distance selling premises using that list if required. 

Experience shows that the most common reasons for prescriptions being dispensed out of 
area are: 

• they are dispensed by a contractor that is just over the border in a neighbouring health 
and wellbeing board’s area, 

• the prescription was for an appliance and was dispensed by a dispensing appliance 
contractor,  

• the patient chose to use a distance selling premises. 

In addition, whilst several hundred different out of area pharmacies may have dispensed 
prescriptions the majority are dispensed by a much smaller number of pharmacies or 
dispensing appliance contractors. 

 
 
16 NHS Business Services Authority, practice prescribing dispensing data monthly reports 

Page 69

https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/prescription-data/dispensing-data/dispensing-contractors-data


38 

Information on the provision of other pharmaceutical services by out of area providers is 
not available. However, it can be assumed that as some people will have their prescription 
dispensed out of area they will also access other services out of area. It is not necessary 
to identify where all services are provided; it can merely be noted that people may have 
accessed other essential services, and also advanced and enhanced services, from an out 
of area provider. 

Health and wellbeing boards will need to decide on the cut-off point for data collection. It 
will take a number of months between starting the process and getting to the point of 
signing off the consultation version of the document and during that time it is possible that 
things will change, for example pharmacies may open, close or relocate, new services 
may be commissioned or ceased to be commissioned. It is recommended that a cut-off 
point is set once all the required data has been collated and this is clearly stated 
throughout the document for example: 

• as at November 2021 there are 150 pharmacies included in the pharmaceutical list for 
the area of Anytown Health and Wellbeing Board; 

• in the first four months of 2021/2022, 140 of the 150 pharmacies had provided a total 
of 3,750 new medicine service reviews; and 

• at the time of drafting (November 2021), 50 of the 150 pharmacies had signed up to 
provide the new hypertension case-finding service advanced service. It is anticipated 
that more will sign-up to provide the service over the coming months and this will be 
reviewed after the consultation. 

Any changes that subsequently occur can then be noted and included in the post-
consultation version of the document. Health and wellbeing boards will, however, need to 
note that if any of the changes to service provision or availability are such that they create 
a gap and this leads to the identification of a new need, improvements or better access, a 
second period of consultation on that will need to be undertaken, although it does not need 
to be for 60 days. 

5. Necessary services 
Once the provision of all pharmaceutical services has been identified it will then be 
necessary to identify those that are necessary services. These are defined within the 2013 
regulations as those that are necessary to meet the need for pharmaceutical services and 
could be provided within or outside of the health and wellbeing board’s area. 

Page 70



39 

As noted in chapter 2 the 2013 regulations do not include a definition of what is a 
necessary service and what is not, so health and wellbeing boards have complete 
discretion as to how they go about this. 

There are two potential ways to define which services are necessary services 

(a) by the type of service, for example all essential services and certain advanced 
and enhanced services; or 

(b) by pharmacy, location, or time and day of the week that services are provided. 
This may be harder where, for example, there are four pharmacies in a town 
all providing the same range of services at approximately the same times of 
the day and days of the week. The health and wellbeing board may have 
difficulty in deciding which are necessary and which are other relevant 
services (see below). 

Once it has determined which services are necessary services the health and wellbeing 
board will need to include a statement to this effect within the pharmaceutical needs 
assessment. It then needs to go on to describe the current provision of these services i.e. 
where they are provided and the times they are provided at. 

6. Other relevant services 
The remaining pharmaceutical services are therefore deemed to be other relevant services 
and a statement to this effect is to be included in the pharmaceutical needs assessment. It 
then needs to go on to describe the current provision of these services i.e. where they are 
provided and the times they are provided at. 

7. Other NHS services 
The 2013 regulations then require the pharmaceutical needs assessment to include a 
statement of the other NHS services that the health and wellbeing board considers affect 
the need for pharmaceutical services. It is recommended that these are included as a 
separate chapter. 

Those NHS services that reduce the need for pharmaceutical services, in particular the 
dispensing service, include: 

• hospital pharmacies, 

• personal administration of items by GP practices, 

Page 71



40 

• GP out of hours service (as it may give patients a course of treatment rather than a 
prescription), 

• public health services commissioned by the local authority (as this reduces the need 
for such services to be commissioned as enhanced services), 

• prison pharmacy services (where relevant), 

• substance misuse services, and  

• flu vaccination by GP practices 

NHS services that increase the demand for pharmaceutical services include: 

• GP out of hours services (where a prescription is issued), 

• walk-in centres and minor injury units (where a prescription is issued), 

• GP extended access hubs, 

• community nursing prescribing, 

• dental services, 

• end of life services, and 

• services that have been moved into the primary care setting. 

The number of items prescribed in the above services can be identified as described 
earlier in this chapter, although not for all of them as they will not have an organisation 
data code. For example: 

• the level of dental prescribing is not available at health and wellbeing board level.  

• the provision of pharmacy services to any prison in the health and wellbeing board’s is 
unlikely to be part of pharmaceutical services and the number of items may not be 
available. 

Where an organisation data code has not been issued and therefore the number of items 
prescribed is not available it is suggested that the pharmaceutical needs assessment 
notes that dentists, for example, will issue NHS prescriptions which are dispensed as part 
of pharmaceutical services, however the level of activity is unknown. 

Page 72



41 

8. Maps 
The pharmaceutical needs assessment must include a map that identifies the premises at 
which pharmaceutical services are provided within the area of the health and wellbeing 
board. This can be produced using the Department of Health and Social Care Office for 
Health Improvement and Disparities’ SHAPE application (which has the premises pre-
loaded) or other mapping software applications. This map must be kept up-to-date (without 
needing to republish the whole document or publish a supplementary statement – see 
chapter 8). 

It is likely that, due to the size of the health and wellbeing board’s area, the markers for 
some of the premises overlap and the map may therefore be of limited value. It is 
recommended that locality level maps are also included as they may be clearer. 

There is no cap on the number of maps that may be included. Health and wellbeing boards 
may therefore wish to consider mapping the location of premises: 

• against indicators such as population density and deprivation, and 

• provision of each of the advanced and any enhanced services. 

Mapping travel times to premises by private and public transport and on foot can help in 
the identification of any geographical gaps in provision and these maps can be produced 
using the Department of Health and Social Care Office for Health Improvement and 
Disparities’ SHAPE application. 

9. Choice with regard to obtaining pharmaceutical services 
The 2013 regulations require the health and wellbeing board to have regard to whether 
there is sufficient choice with regard to obtaining pharmaceutical services.  

Earlier in this chapter a suggested process for identifying where prescriptions are 
dispensed was described. This will allow the health and wellbeing board to identify the 
number of different pharmacies and dispensing appliance contractors that residents chose 
to use on either a regular or infrequent basis. 

It should also be borne in mind that as of 30 June 2021 each resident had the choice of 
using any of the 379 distance selling premises in England, all of which are required to 
provide all of the essential services remotely to anyone anywhere in England who may 
request them.  

Other pharmacies provide delivery services. Whilst these are not a pharmaceutical 
service, where provided they can improve the provision of, or access to, services, 

Page 73



42 

particularly dispensing services, in the areas that the pharmacy delivers to. The health and 
wellbeing board however should note that this is a private service and can therefore be 
withdrawn at any time. It will therefore need to decide how much weight to place on such 
services. 

In addition, all pharmacies are now required to facilitate, to a reasonable extent, remote 
access to the pharmaceutical services they provide, where people wish to access them 
remotely. This change was brought into the terms of service earlier in 2021 and will take 
time to become embedded. However, it is likely that this will be an attractive option for 
certain residents, but not all as there will be those who do not have access to the internet 
or who prefer to access services on a face-to-face basis. 

Possible factors to be considered in terms of the benefits of sufficient choice are as 
follows. 

 what is the current level of access within the health and wellbeing board’s area to 
pharmaceutical services? 

what is the extent to which services already offer people a choice, which may be improved 
by the provision of additional facilities? 

what is the extent to which current service provision is adequately responding to the 
changing needs of the community it serves? 

is there a need for specialist or other services, which would improve the provision of, or 
access to, services such as for specific populations or vulnerable groups? 

Taking into account the above, and by asking residents what influences their choice of 
pharmacy as part of the patient and public engagement questionnaire, will allow the health 
and wellbeing board to establish whether it considers that residents have sufficient choice 
with regard to obtaining pharmaceutical services. 

 

Page 74



43 

Chapter 6: Identifying gaps and 
articulating needs/improvements/ better 
access 

1. Background 
In order to provide pharmaceutical services in England a person and the premises from 
which they will provide services must be included in the relevant pharmaceutical list. NHS 
England and NHS Improvement is responsible for preparing, maintaining and publishing 
pharmaceutical lists in respect of each health and wellbeing board’s area. Applications for 
inclusion in one of these lists are submitted to Primary Care Support England and 
determined by NHS England and NHS Improvement. 

The main purpose of the pharmaceutical needs assessment is to inform the submission of 
applications for inclusion in a pharmaceutical list, and the subsequent determination of 
such applications. 

There are a number of different types of application which can be submitted where 
someone wishes to open new pharmacy or dispensing appliance contractor premises. 

• to meet a current need identified in the relevant pharmaceutical needs assessment. 

• to meet a future need identified in the relevant pharmaceutical needs assessment. 

• to secure improvements or better access identified in the relevant pharmaceutical 
needs assessment. 

• to secure future improvements or better access identified in the relevant 
pharmaceutical needs assessment. 

• to secure improvements or better access that were not identified in the relevant 
pharmaceutical needs assessment. 

• to open distance selling premises. 

As can be seen the first four types of application are based on the pharmaceutical needs 
assessment for the area of the health and wellbeing board where the applicant wishes to 
provide services. 

Page 75



44 

The regulations require pharmaceutical needs assessments to include statements of the 
pharmaceutical services that the health and wellbeing board has identified that are not 
provided within its area but which the board is satisfied: 

• need to be provided in order to meet a current need, 

• will need to be provided in specified circumstances in order to meet a future need, 

• would, if they were provided, secure improvements or better access, or 

• would, if they were provided in specified future circumstances, secure future 
improvements or better access. 

The needs, improvements or better access could be for a particular service or for a range 
of services.  

Where the health and wellbeing board does not identify any needs for, or improvements or 
better access to, pharmaceutical services within the pharmaceutical needs assessment 
the only types of application for new premises that could be submitted are those offering 
unforeseen benefits or for distance selling premises. 

2. Identifying gaps in provision – current provision 
The requirements of paragraphs 2(a) and 4(a) of Schedule 1 to the 2013 regulations are 
set out in the box below. 

Necessary services: gaps in provision 

2. A statement of the pharmaceutical services that the [health and wellbeing board] has 
identified (if it has) as services that are not provided in the area of the [health and 
wellbeing board] but which the [health and wellbeing board] is satisfied- 

(a) need to be provided (whether or not they are located in the area of the [health and 
wellbeing board]) in order to meet a current need for pharmaceutical services, or 
pharmaceutical services of a specified type, in its area; 

Improvements and better access: gaps in provision 

4. A statement of the pharmaceutical services that the [health and wellbeing board] has 
identified (if it has) as services that are not provided in the area of the [health and 
wellbeing board] but which the [health and wellbeing board] is satisfied- 

Page 76



45 

(a) would, if they were provided (whether or not they were located in the area of the [health 
and wellbeing board]), secure improvements, or better access to pharmaceutical services, 
or pharmaceutical services of a specific type, in its area, 

So far the pharmaceutical needs assessment will have: 

• described the demographics of the area and any expected changes to these within the 
three-year lifetime of the document, 

• identified the health needs of the population and which can be met by the provision of 
pharmaceutical services, 

• described and mapped the provision of pharmaceutical services (both by those within 
the area and outside of it), and 

• described the other NHS services that affect the need for pharmaceutical services. 

The next step is to identify whether or not there are any gaps in the current provision of 
pharmaceutical services. Such gaps could be for: 

• a pharmacy providing a specified range of services, 

• a specific service, or 

• a service, or services, to be provided at specified times. 

The regulations are silent as to how the health and wellbeing board identifies any gaps. It 
is suggested that there are three levels where gaps may exist. 

1. geographical gaps in the location of premises – are premises in the right locations? 
Are there any current gaps in the spread of premises? 

2. geographical gaps in the provision of services 

3. gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are provided. 

Once any gaps are identified they are to be articulated as needs for, or improvements or 
better access to, pharmaceutical services. 

Care needs to be taken when articulating needs, improvements or better access as vague 
or incomplete statements could lead to applications either being: 

(a) granted inappropriately because: 

Page 77



46 

(i) the applicant is not offering the service that was required, or  

(ii) the location of their premises is in the wrong place, or 

(iii) their opening times are the same as, or similar to, the other pharmacies 
and they are offering no additional benefit; or 

(b) refused inappropriately because either NHS England and NHS Improvement 
or NHS Resolution was unclear as to what the need/improvement/better 
access is and therefore whether the applicant is offering to meet or secure it. 

2.1 Current geographical gaps in the location of premises 

In order to identify gaps in the location of premises it is recommended that a travel time 
standard is chosen and then access mapped against it. Information gained from the public 
engagement questionnaire will help inform the travel time standard used, along with 
information on how the public travels to pharmacies. 

Using mapping software or the Department of Health and Social Care Office for Health 
Improvement and Disparities’ SHAPE application will allow the health and wellbeing board 
to map travel times to the current premises within its area by public and private transport, 
on foot or by bicycle. Some mapping software will confirm the number of people who do 
not live within the travel time, but not all will. Where it does not, the use of freely available 
mapping applications will allow analysis of whether or not there is a resident population in 
the area or areas. 

Having mapped access to the premises within the health and wellbeing board’s area, 
those areas that are outside of the travel time need to be identified. These are likely to be 
on the edge of the board’s area so it will be necessary to add on those pharmacies in the 
neighbouring area in order to avoid identifying gaps that do not actually exist. 

For example, SHAPE shows that all but a small part of Hertfordshire is within 20 minutes 
of a pharmacy within the county by car (circled in red in the map below).  

In the following maps the darker the colour the shorter the journey with the darkest green 
representing journey times of up to five minutes.  

Google Maps reveals that the area is mostly open countryside with only a few scattered 
residences. 

Page 78



47 

Figure 1: Map 1 – 20-minute travel time to Hertfordshire pharmacies 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100016969 
| parallel | Mapbox | OpenStreetMap contributors. 

Analysis of where prescriptions are dispensed (as described in chapter 5) will help map 
out of area providers and therefore whether it is appropriate to include pharmacies in 
neighbouring areas in the mapping of travel times. SHAPE can also be used to plot the GP 
practices and map where their prescriptions were dispensed in the most recently available 
month (usually three months in arrears). 

For example, the data shows that prescriptions are dispensed in Buckinghamshire. When 
access to pharmacies in Buckinghamshire is mapped this area is now within a ten-minute 
drive of a pharmacy. 

Page 79

https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/
https://parallel.co.uk/
https://mapbox.com/
https://www.openstreetmap.org/copyright


48 

Figure 2: Map 2 – travel time to pharmacies within and outside of Hertfordshire 

 

 © Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100016969 | parallel | 
Mapbox | OpenStreetMap contributors. 

In addition, GP practices may have branch surgeries that are outside of the health and 
wellbeing board’s areas and this will need to be taken into account as it will affect where 
people access pharmaceutical services. 

For example, one of the GP practices in Tring has a branch surgery in a village in 
Buckinghamshire. When analysing where that practice’s prescriptions are dispensed 
SHAPE shows that a proportion are dispensed by the pharmacy in that village as can be 
seen from the map below. 

Page 80



49 

Figure 3: Map 3 – mapping where practice prescriptions are dispensed 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100016969 
| parallel | Mapbox | OpenStreetMap contributors 

Use of this data will provide evidence of where prescriptions are dispensed and help to 
validate the travel time standard chosen. 

If a 15-minute drive time was chosen for Hertfordshire then other parts of the county would 
also fall outside of that standard, in particular to the north and north east of Saffron Walden 
as shown in the map below. 

Page 81

https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/
https://parallel.co.uk/
https://mapbox.com/
https://www.openstreetmap.org/copyright


50 

Figure 4: Map 4 – 15-minute travel time to Hertfordshire pharmacies 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100016969 
| parallel | Mapbox | OpenStreetMap contributors 

However, when the pharmacies over the border in Cambridgeshire, Suffolk and Essex are 
taken into account, the areas are within a 15-minute drive of a pharmacy. 

Page 82

https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/
https://parallel.co.uk/
https://mapbox.com/
https://www.openstreetmap.org/copyright


51 

Figure 5: Map 5 – travel time to pharmacies within and outside of Hertfordshire 

 

Depending on the geography of the health and wellbeing board’s area it may be necessary 
to have two travel standards – one for rural areas and one for built-up areas. In rural areas 
the provision of a dispensing service by GP practices will need to be taken into account 
again so that gaps are not inappropriately identified. 

2.2 Current geographical gaps in the provision of services 

Provision of each of the advanced services and any enhanced services that are 
commissioned will then need to be mapped in order to establish any geographical gaps in 
provision. However, if all pharmacies provide a particular service this won’t be necessary.  

2.3 Current gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are 
provided 

Consideration will then need to be given as to whether there are any gaps in the times at 
which services are provided. This could be for a specific service e.g. the need for the 
provision of the community pharmacist consultation service at the weekend, or a range of 
services. 

Page 83



52 

Health and wellbeing boards will need to decide how much weight is to be given to the 
provision of pharmaceutical services during supplementary opening hours, bearing in mind 
that these hours can be changed with at least three months’ notice. 

Access to services at certain times or on certain days may have been highlighted as part 
of the public engagement questionnaire and this should be taken into account in this 
consideration. 

3. Articulating current needs 

It is not enough just to identify a gap or gaps. The 2013 regulations require the health and 
wellbeing board to include a statement of the service that needs, or services that need, to 
be provided in order to meet a need for that service or services. 

Health and wellbeing boards need to be as precise as possible in articulating any current 
need, clearly setting out what service is provided, at what times it needs to be provided, 
and where. Words such as ‘may’, ‘might’ or ‘could’ must be avoided in order to ensure that 
only applications that will meet the identified need are granted.  

Including a statement such as “There might be a need for services in the area” is too 
vague and does not meet the requirements of the 2013 regulations. Is there a need or not? 
What are the services that are required? Where do they need to be provided? 

A statement that better meets the requirements of the 2013 regulations would be as 
follows. 

“Taking into account the above information, the health and wellbeing board is satisfied that 
there is a current need for the provision of the community pharmacist consultation service 
on Saturdays and Sundays between the hours of 09.00 and 19.00, in Anytown, to the 
north of the river.” 

It clearly sets out: 

(a) what service is required, 

(b) when it is to be provided, and 

(c) where it is to be provided. 

 

If the current need for a pharmacy is identified, then the pharmaceutical needs 
assessment should state that. However, it should be noted that a pharmacy of itself is not 
a pharmaceutical service, therefore the need would be expressed as follows. 

Page 84



53 

“There is a current need for a pharmacy providing the following services, Monday to 
Saturday: 

• all essential services, 

• the community pharmacist consultation service, 

• the new medicine service, and  

• flu vaccinations.” 

Should an application then be submitted offering to meet that need, NHS England and 
NHS Improvement can clearly assess the application against the identified need and 
determine whether or not to grant it. In addition, NHS England and NHS Improvement can 
hold the applicant to providing the advanced services (the provision of the essential 
services is a given for all pharmacies included in a pharmaceutical list). 

The health and wellbeing board could go on and specify the required opening hours, for 
example 09.00 to 19.00 Monday to Friday and 09.00 to 18.00 on Saturday. Whilst this 
would total more than 40 core opening hours per week an applicant could apply and offer 
these core opening hours and NHS England and NHS Improvement could grant the 
application partly on the basis of these core opening hours and then hold the applicant to 
them once the pharmacy opens.  

4. Articulating current improvements or better access 

Whilst current needs may be identified in relation to the lack of provision of a particular 
service or services, the health and wellbeing board may also identify improvements or 
better access to the existing provision of services. This is most likely to be in relation to the 
times at which the existing services are provided, although it could be in relation to 
reducing the travelling time or distance to access a service. 

Health and wellbeing boards should note that opening hours of themselves are not 
pharmaceutical services. Therefore, they should avoid identifying a need for, or 
improvement or better access to, opening hours. If there is a gap in the provision of 
services of certain times this would be articulated as an improvement or better access to 
specified services at specified times. 

Instead of saying “Extended opening hours on weekday evenings would lead to better 
access to services” it should be articulated as: 

“Better access to the following services would be secured by their provision on weekday 
evenings between 17.00 and 19.30: 

Page 85



54 

• all essential services, 

• the community pharmacist consultation service, and 

• the new medicine service.” 

The pharmaceutical needs assessment would then go on to confirm where the better 
access is required, for example in X ward, or in A, B and C wards. 

5. Identifying gaps in provision – future provision 

The requirements of paragraphs 2(b) and 4(b) of Schedule 1 to the 2013 regulations are 
set out in the box below. 

Necessary services: gaps in provision 

2. A statement of the pharmaceutical services that the [health and wellbeing board] has 
identified (if it has) as services that are not provided in the area of the [health and 
wellbeing board] but which the [health and wellbeing board] is satisfied- 

(b) will, in specified future circumstances, need to be provided (whether or not they are 
located in the area of the [health and wellbeing board]) in order to meet a future need for 
pharmaceutical services, or pharmaceutical services of a specified type, in its area. 

Improvements and better access: gaps in provision 

4. A statement of the pharmaceutical services that the [health and wellbeing board] has 
identified (if it has) as services that are not provided in the area of the [health and 
wellbeing board] but which the [health and wellbeing board] is satisfied- 

(b) would, if in specified future circumstances they were provided (whether or not they 
were located in the area of the [health and wellbeing board]), secure future improvements, 
or better access, to pharmaceutical services, or pharmaceutical services or a specified 
type, in its area. 

The pharmaceutical needs assessment must also set out any needs for pharmaceutical 
services that may arise during the three-year lifetime of the document. Matters to have 
regard to here include: 

• housing developments, 

• regeneration projects, 

Page 86



55 

• highways projects that will affect how services are accessed, 

• creation of new retail and leisure facilities that will draw people to an area, 

• changes in the provision of primary medical services for example the relocation of GP 
practices, mergers of GP practices, known closures of GP practices, and 

• other changes to the demand for services e.g. increases in the range of services within 
primary care that increase the number of prescriptions that need to be dispensed, care 
or nursing home developments. 

The health and wellbeing board would then go through the same process as it did to 
identify any gaps in the current provision of pharmaceutical services. 

The services that pharmacies provide are subject to national negotiation, and it is therefore 
possible that during the lifetime of the pharmaceutical needs assessment new essential or 
advanced services will be rolled out. It is not possible for the health and wellbeing board to 
foresee what new advanced services may be launched (any new essential services would 
have to be provided by all pharmacies), so this would be something to consider as part of 
the ongoing duties with regard to producing new pharmaceutical needs assessments 
and/or publishing supplementary statements (see chapter 8). 

6. Articulating future needs, improvements, or better access 

Information that will be useful to inform the discussion on future needs, improvements or 
better access includes knowledge of the existing contractors’ capacity (gathered as part of 
the contractor questionnaires) as it is not possible to assume a pharmacy that dispenses 
the highest number of items per month is at capacity and the pharmacy that dispenses the 
lowest has spare capacity. Contractors will have different operating and staffing models 
and may use a dispensing hub elsewhere in the country, and these will affect their ability 
to meet an increase in demand for their services. 

In relation to new housing developments the health and wellbeing board will need to 
consider not just the contractors’ capacity but also the ability of residents to access the 
nearest pharmacies. Information on those that will be amongst the first to move in is 
unlikely to be available, but the following information will assist: 

• the type of housing that will be built during the three-year period, 

• the estimated occupancy rate (this may vary depending on the type of housing being 
built), 

• access to public transport, 

Page 87



56 

• footpaths and cycle paths into and out of the area, 

• the distance to the nearest pharmacies and/or dispensing doctors, and 

• what other facilities are there or will be built during the three-year period for example 
GP practices, schools, retail and leisure facilities, and employment. 

The pharmaceutical needs assessment will need to identify the demand for 
pharmaceutical services that will be generated, the ability for the existing contractors to 
meet that demand, and the ability for residents to access the existing contractors. It should 
be borne in mind that the residents will have access to all the distance selling premises in 
England who are required to provide all the essential services, and pharmacies will 
increasingly be offering remote access to services where this is appropriate. In addition 
some of the existing contractors will offer private delivery services. 

If a pharmacy providing a specified range of services is identified as needed within a 
housing development, then consideration will need to be given as to the trigger for that 
need. Is it on: 

• completion of a certain number of houses? 

• occupation of a certain number of houses? 

• completion of a certain phase of the development? 

• completion of the whole development? 

• completion of some or all of the other facilities?  

Whatever the trigger is, it needs to be clearly articulated in the pharmaceutical needs 
assessment, and should be based on information that is measurable so that an accurate 
assessment can be made. For example: 

“There is a future need for a pharmacy within the village centre of the development on 
occupation of 1,000 houses, that is open Monday to Friday between 09.00 and 19.00, and 
on Saturdays 09.00 to 17.30, providing the following services: 

• all essential services, and 

• the following advanced services: 

• community pharmacist consultation service,  

• flu vaccination, and 

Page 88



57 

• hypertension case-finding service.” 

If an application is then submitted to meet this future need NHS England and NHS 
Improvement could either: 

• defer determination of it until 1,000 houses are occupied, or 

• determine and grant the application subject to the condition that services are not 
provided until 1,000 houses are occupied. 

The same applies to applications to secure future improvements or better access. 

Page 89



58 

Chapter 7: Consultation 

1. Regulatory requirements 
Regulation 8 requires the health and wellbeing board to consult a specified range of 
organisations on a draft of the pharmaceutical needs assessment at least once during the 
process of drafting the document. They must be given a minimum period of 60 days to 
submit their response, beginning on the day by which they are ‘served with a draft’ of the 
document. 

‘Served with a draft’ is defined within the 2013 regulations - a consultee is treated as 
served with a draft of the document when the health and wellbeing board notifies them of 
the website on which the document is available and will continue to be available for a 
period of at least 60 days. 

Health and wellbeing boards should note that it is sufficient to send consultees the weblink 
to the document. However, if one of the consultees requests a hard copy of the document 
this must be provided as soon as practicable, and in any event within 14 days, free of 
charge. 

2. Those to be consulted 
The following organisations must be consulted: 

• the local pharmaceutical committee, 

• the local medical committee, 

• pharmacy and dispensing appliance contractors included in the pharmaceutical list for 
the area of the health and wellbeing board, 

• dispensing doctors included in the dispensing doctor list for the area of the health and 
wellbeing board, if any, 

• any pharmacy contractor that holds a local pharmaceutical services contract with 
premises that are in the health and wellbeing board’s area, 

• Healthwatch, and any other patient, consumer, or community group in the area which 
the health and wellbeing board believes has an interest in the provision of 
pharmaceutical services, 

• any NHS trust or NHS foundation trust in the health and wellbeing board’s area, 

Page 90



59 

• NHS England and NHS Improvement, and 

• any neighbouring health and wellbeing board. 

The health and wellbeing board is free to consult with any other organisation and/or 
members of the public if it so wishes, but is not obliged to do so. In light of the upcoming 
changes to the structure of the NHS, the health and wellbeing board may wish to consult 
the integrated care board and integrated care partnership for its area. 

3. Suggested questions 
The 2013 regulations do not specify what is asked as part of the consultation. It is 
suggested that views are sought on the following questions. 

(i) has the purpose of the pharmaceutical needs assessment been 
explained? 

(ii) does the pharmaceutical needs assessment reflect the current provision of 
pharmaceutical services within your area? 

(iii) are there any gaps in service provision i.e. when, where and which 
services are available that have not been identified in the pharmaceutical 
needs assessment? 

(iv) does the draft pharmaceutical needs assessment reflect the needs of your 
area’s population? 

(v) has the pharmaceutical needs assessment provided information to inform 
market entry decisions i.e. decisions on applications for new pharmacies 
and dispensing appliance contractor premises? 

(vi) has the pharmaceutical needs assessment provided information to inform 
how pharmaceutical services may be commissioned in the future? 

(vii) has the pharmaceutical needs assessment provided enough information to 
inform future pharmaceutical services provision and plans for pharmacies 
and dispensing appliance contractors? 

(viii) are there any pharmaceutical services that could be provided in the 
community pharmacy setting in the future that have not been highlighted? 

(ix) do you agree with the conclusions of the pharmaceutical needs 
assessment? 

Page 91



60 

(x) do you have any other comments? 

4. Consultation report 
The 2013 regulations require a report of the consultation to be included in the final version 
of the pharmaceutical needs assessment. This should include the responses to the 
consultation, any response to them by the health and wellbeing board and a list of any 
amendments or changes subsequently made to the pharmaceutical needs assessment. 

It should be noted that if, as a result of the consultation, the health and wellbeing board 
identifies new needs for, or improvements or better access to, pharmaceutical services, 
then there will need to be a second period of consultation, although this does not have to 
be for 60 days. Health and wellbeing boards should therefore bear this in mind when 
agreeing the project timeline. 

Page 92



61 

Chapter 8: Updating of PNAs and 
supplementary statements 

1. What the legislation says 
As at October 2021, the 2013 regulations require the next pharmaceutical needs 
assessment to be published by 1 April 2022 although this will be amended to 1 October 
2022 as a result of the ongoing response to the Covid-19 pandemic. Health and wellbeing 
boards should note this is the latest date by which they must publish their next 
pharmaceutical needs assessment, although they are free to publish it sooner if they so 
wish. 

Once the 2022 version is published, health and wellbeing boards will be required to 
publish their next pharmaceutical needs assessment within three years of the date on 
which the 2022 version was published.  

However, there may be occasions where a health and wellbeing board will need to publish 
its next pharmaceutical needs assessment sooner. In addition, the health and wellbeing 
board may need to publish a supplementary statement or statements. Once the document 
is published, the health and wellbeing board will therefore need to establish a process to 
meet the regulatory requirements regarding publishing new versions and/or supplementary 
statements. A decision-making flowchart is included at appendix 2 to assist health and 
wellbeing boards with these requirements. 

2. Subsequent pharmaceutical needs assessments 
Once a pharmaceutical needs assessment is published, the 2013 regulations require the 
health and wellbeing board to produce a new one if it identifies changes to the need for 
pharmaceutical services, which are of a significant extent. This could be due to changes 
to: 

• the number of people in the area who require pharmaceutical services, 

• the demography of the area, or  

• risks to the health or wellbeing of people in the area (both residents and visitors). 

The only exception to this requirement is where the health and wellbeing board is satisfied 
that producing a new pharmaceutical needs assessment would be a disproportionate 
response to the changes. 

Page 93



62 

The box below contains an example to illustrate this regulatory requirement. 

Is a new pharmaceutical needs assessment required? 

Whilst drafting its next pharmaceutical needs assessment, the health and wellbeing board 
notes that the regeneration of a steelworks plant is due to start in four years’ time. As well 
as 15,000 houses there will also be a business park, retail area and extensive leisure and 
recreational facilities. It is anticipated that when finished the development will draw a 
considerable number of daily visitors. 

Whilst groundworks will start in year three, building of the first phase of housing is not due 
to start until the following year. The health and wellbeing board is of the opinion that a 
pharmacy providing a specified range of pharmaceutical services seven days a week will 
be required in the future but decides not to include the project in the pharmaceutical needs 
assessment as it will not generate any need for pharmaceutical services within the three-
year lifetime of the document. 

Six months after the pharmaceutical needs assessment is published, it is announced that 
the project is being bought forward in order to stimulate the local economy and the first 
phase of housing will commence within the next six months.  

Due to the location of the development on the edge of a town from which it is separated by 
a busy motorway, there is no easy access to the nearest pharmacies.  

The health and wellbeing board is of the opinion that this represents a significant change 
to the need for pharmaceutical services and starts the process of producing its next 
pharmaceutical needs assessment. 

The health and wellbeing board will therefore need to put a system in place that allows it to 
identify any changes to the need for pharmaceutical services that arise during the three-
year lifetime of the pharmaceutical needs assessment. 

3. Supplementary statements 
The health and wellbeing board will also need to put in place a system which allows it to 
identify any changes to the availability of pharmaceutical services and then determine 
whether or not it needs to issue a supplementary statement. This responsibility could be 
delegated to a committee or sub-committee or could remain with the board. 

Primary Care Support England is responsible for notifying a range of organisations when: 

Page 94



63 

• a pharmacy or dispensing appliance contractor opens new premises or relocates to 
new premises, and 

• a change of ownership application takes place. 

NHS England and NHS Improvement is responsible for notifying a range of organisations 
when: 

• core and/or supplementary opening hours change, 

• pharmacy or dispensing appliance contractor premises close permanently, and 

• when a dispensing practice ceases to dispense either to a particular area or 
completely17. 

Health and wellbeing boards should ensure that both organisations are aware of who to 
send the notifications to18.  

At the moment there is no mechanism for health and wellbeing boards to be automatically 
notified when a contractor signs up to provide a new advanced or enhanced service, or 
ceases to provide such a service. This will therefore need to be discussed with NHS 
England and NHS Improvement and a process agreed. 

A supplementary statement is to be published to explain changes to the availability of 
pharmaceutical services where: 

(a) the changes are relevant to the granting of an application or applications for 
inclusion in the pharmaceutical list for the area of the health and wellbeing 
board’s area; and 

(b) the health and wellbeing board is satisfied that producing a new 
pharmaceutical needs assessment would be a disproportionate response to 
those changes or it is already producing its next pharmaceutical needs 
assessment but is satisfied that it needs to immediately modify the existing 
document in order to prevent significant detriment to the provision of 
pharmaceutical services. 

Supplementary statements are statements of fact; they do not make any assessment of 
the impact the change may have on the need for pharmaceutical services. Effectively, they 
are an update of what the pharmaceutical needs assessment says about the availability of 

 
 
17 This responsibility may transfer to Primary Care Support England in the future. 
18 Primary Care Support England contact us and NHS England and NHS Improvement pharmacy contract 
teams 

Page 95

https://pcse.england.nhs.uk/contact-us/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/primary-care/pharmacy/pharmacy-contract-teams/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/primary-care/pharmacy/pharmacy-contract-teams/


64 

pharmaceutical services. They are not a vehicle for updating what the pharmaceutical 
needs assessment says about the need for pharmaceutical services. 

Once published the supplementary statement becomes part of the pharmaceutical needs 
assessment and will therefore be referred to by NHS England and NHS Improvement 
when it determines applications for inclusion in a pharmaceutical list. It will also be referred 
to by NHS Resolution when it determines an appeal. Supplementary statements are 
therefore to be published alongside the pharmaceutical needs assessment. 

The box below contains an example to illustrate this regulatory requirement. 

Does a supplementary statement need to be published? 

The health and wellbeing board is notified that: 

1. there has been a change of ownership of a pharmacy. This is not a change to the 
availability of pharmaceutical services and therefore no supplementary statement is to be 
issued. 

2. a pharmacy has relocated three doors down the road. This is a very minor change to the 
availability of pharmaceutical services and is not relevant to the granting of an application 
for inclusion in the pharmaceutical list. No supplementary statement is therefore to be 
issued. The health and wellbeing board may need to update the map showing the 
premises at which pharmaceutical services are provided depending upon the scale of it. 
As the move is such a short distance it is likely that the marker representing the pharmacy 
is unlikely to move that far, or at all, on the map. 

3. one of three pharmacies that are on the same road within 600 metres of each other 
reduces its supplementary opening hours on a Saturday and now closes at 13.00 instead 
of 17.00. The other two pharmacies open on Saturday afternoons, one until 22.00 as it is a 
100 hour pharmacy. Whilst this is a change to the availability of pharmaceutical services is 
it relevant to the granting of an application for inclusion in the pharmaceutical list? Due to 
the close proximity of the two other pharmacies, one of which must stay open until 22.00, it 
is unlikely to be relevant and therefore a supplementary statement does not need to be 
issued. 

4. the only pharmacy in a deprived part of a town closes. The next nearest pharmacy is 
two miles away. This is a change to the availability of pharmaceutical services so the 
health and wellbeing board would need to consider whether the change is relevant to the 
granting of an application for inclusion in the pharmaceutical list. One way of doing that is 
to consider whether, when the pharmaceutical needs assessment was written, if the 
pharmacy had not been there would it have been identified as a gap in the provision of 
pharmaceutical services? In making this decision the health and wellbeing board will need 

Page 96



65 

to take into account travel times to the nearest pharmacy, the availability of private and 
public transport, the fact it is likely to be too far to walk for many people, and the 
availability of other NHS services such as GPs. 

5. if the health and wellbeing board considers that if the pharmacy mentioned in paragraph 
4 had not been open during the writing of the PNA that there would have been a gap in the 
provision of pharmaceutical services then it would need to publish a supplementary 
statement. However, if not, then a supplementary statement should not be published as it 
could lead to applications to meet a current need as the current need would be inferred by 
the publication of the supplementary statement.  Following the closure of the pharmacy the 
health and wellbeing board must update the map showing the premises at which 
pharmaceutical services are provided. 

6. the pharmaceutical needs assessment identifies the need for a new pharmacy. An 
application is subsequently received, granted and the pharmacy opens. This is a change 
to the availability of pharmaceutical services and is also relevant to the granting of further 
applications as the pharmaceutical needs assessment only identified the need for one 
pharmacy. A supplementary statement would therefore need to be published so as to 
avoid the submission of unnecessary applications. Following the opening of the pharmacy 
the health and wellbeing board must update the map showing the premises at which 
pharmaceutical services are provided. 

7. an unforeseen benefits application for a pharmacy within a village is granted. This is a 
change to the availability of pharmaceutical services and is also relevant to the granting of 
further applications. A supplementary statement would therefore need to be published so 
as to avoid the submission of unnecessary applications. 

Where the health and wellbeing board identifies changes to the availability of 
pharmaceutical services that are not relevant to the granting of applications and therefore 
does not issue a supplementary statement, it will need to keep a record of these changes 
so that they can be incorporated into the next version of the pharmaceutical needs 
assessment. 

Examples of supplementary statements can be found in appendix 3. 

4. Supplementary statements and pharmacy consolidations 
Since 5 December 2016 pharmacies have been able to apply to NHS England and NHS 
Improvement to consolidate the provision of pharmaceutical services at two pharmacies 
onto one site, i.e. one set of premises closes. However, such applications: 

• cannot involve distance selling premises, 

Page 97



66 

• can only involve two pharmacies that are in the area of the same health and wellbeing 
boards, 

• may be submitted where the applicant owns both pharmacies, 

• may be submitted where the applicant owns one of the pharmacies and another 
contractor owns the other pharmacy. 

NHS England and NHS Improvement is directed to refuse a consolidation application if it 
satisfied that to grant it would create a gap in pharmaceutical services provision that could 
be met by an application offering to: 

• meet a current or future need for pharmaceutical services, or 

• secure improvements or better access to pharmaceutical services. 

Health and wellbeing boards will be notified of such applications and must make 
representations in writing which indicate whether or not granting the application would 
create such a gap. They will have 45 days to submit such representations and will receive 
a number of reminders of this statutory duty if they do not respond within the 45 days. 
Health and wellbeing boards must therefore put in place, if they have not already done so, 
a process by which a consideration can be made as to whether the closure of one of the 
pharmacies would result in such a gap. 

If a consolidation application is granted the applicant will have six months within which to 
effect it (potentially extended to an overall total of nine months). When the pharmacy that 
is to close does so the health and wellbeing board will be notified of this by Primary Care 
Support England. At that point the health and wellbeing board is to issue a supplementary 
statement where it is of the opinion that the closing of one of the pharmacies does not 
create a gap that could be met by an application offering to meet a need for, or secure 
improvements or better access to, pharmaceutical services. 

Such a supplementary statement remains in place and provides regulatory protection for 
the continuing pharmacy against an application offering to meet a need for, or secure 
improvements or better access to, pharmaceutical services for the remaining lifetime of the 
pharmaceutical needs assessment. Having granted a consolidation application NHS 
England and NHS Improvement must then refuse any further applications known as 
“unforeseen benefits applications” by other pharmacy contractors seeking inclusion in the 
pharmaceutical list, if the applicant is seeking to rely on the consolidation as evidence of a 
gap in provision.  This would be the case at least until the next revision of the 
pharmaceutical needs assessment. 

Page 98



67 

When the pharmaceutical needs assessment is then to be revised, the health and 
wellbeing board will need to consider again where there are any current geographical gaps 
in the location of premises – see chapter 6.1. The health and wellbeing board will be 
aware that the consolidation did not previously create a gap and a supplementary 
statement was published at the time to this effect. Unless there have been other changes 
in the locality, and these are then sufficient to have created a need for an additional 
pharmacy or the provision of a pharmaceutical service or services at certain times, there 
will continue to be no gap. It is recommended that within the pharmaceutical needs 
assessment that it is noted that a pharmacy previously closed as the result of a 
consolidation but that did not create a gap and the health and wellbeing board remains of 
that opinion. This will then ensure that the regulatory protection conferred by the 
consolidation will continue for the lifetime of the next pharmaceutical needs assessment. 
Health and wellbeing boards should, however, note that unforeseen benefits applications 
could still be submitted where the basis is for a different reason to the fact there used to be 
a pharmacy but it closed as a result of a consolidation application.  

Health and wellbeing boards should note that if a consolidation application is refused the 
owner of the site that was to be closed can still give notice to NHS England and NHS 
Improvement that they intend to close the pharmacy. The health and wellbeing board 
would then need to consider whether it will need to provide a supplementary statement 
following this closure. If the refusal was because NHS England and NHS Improvement 
was satisfied that to grant the consolidation would create a gap in pharmaceutical services 
provision, then a supplementary statement would be required following the closure of the 
premises. 

 

Page 99



68 

Appendix 1 – Suggested timeline 
This appendix sets out suggested consecutive steps to be taken by health and wellbeing 
boards to support the development of the pharmaceutical needs assessment. A separate 
spreadsheet is available that may be used by health and wellbeing boards to support 
planning of the process.   

Step 1: Governance: 

• Invite stakeholders to join the steering group and set date of first meeting 

• Steering group meetings to be scheduled in line with the group's wishes (suggested 
minimum meetings included) 

• Board meetings (schedule board update reports as required) 

Step 2: Health needs and priorities: 

• Obtain reference documentation e.g. needs assessments 

• Obtain information on known housing development, regeneration projects or transport 
developments that are current or will occur within the lifetime of the pharmaceutical 
needs assessment 

• Obtain any additional data 

• Agree localities to be used at first steering group meeting 

• Analyse data 

Step 3: Patient/public questionnaire: 

• Agree patient/public questionnaire at first steering group meeting 

• Upload questionnaire to online platform 

• Promote questionnaire via the council's websites, communications channels and 
online presence, and via press release 

• Questionnaire runs for four weeks 

• Analysis of questionnaire responses  

Step 4: Current pharmaceutical services provision: 

Page 100

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack


69 

• Contractor questionnaires to be agreed at first steering group meeting 

• Upload contractor questionnaires to online platform 

• Contractor questionnaires open for four weeks 

• Analyse responses 

• Obtain dispensing data and advanced and enhanced services activity data  

• Analyse and map service provision data 

Step 5: Synthesis and drafting: 

• Draft overview, health needs, identified patient groups and patient/public engagement 
results sections of the pharmaceutical needs assessment 

• Draft pharmaceutical services sections 

• Undertake locality assessments 

• Share first complete draft pharmaceutical needs assessment with the steering group 

• Steering group to review the pharmaceutical needs assessment 

• Steering group meeting to agree changes to the pharmaceutical needs assessment 

• Incorporate comments from steering group 

• Share final draft of consultation pharmaceutical needs assessment with steering group 

• Submit consultation draft of PNAs to health and wellbeing board/committee/sub-
committee for sign-off 

• Pharmaceutical needs assessment signed off for consultation 

Step 6: Consultation: 

• Consultation questions agreed 

• Consultation documents drafted  

• Liaison with council's communications teams 

• Consultations run for 60 days 

Page 101



70 

• Review consultation responses and produce first draft of consultation reports 

• Consultation report shared with steering group 

• Steering group to agree response to the consultations 

• Pharmaceutical needs assessment finalised 

• Final pharmaceutical needs assessment submitted to the health and wellbeing board 

• Final pharmaceutical needs assessment signed off by health and wellbeing board 

• Pharmaceutical needs assessment published by 1 October 2022 

Page 102



71 

Appendix 2 – Decision-making flowchart 
Once the pharmaceutical needs assessment has been published, the health and wellbeing 
board will need to establish a process for publishing new versions and supplementary 
statements. This appendix sets out the decision-making process. A flowchart has also 
been provided that reflects the decision-making process set out below.  

Decision-making process 
If, as part of its regular review of the provision of pharmaceutical services in its area the 
health and wellbeing board identifies a change since the publication of the current 
pharmaceutical needs assessment then ask the question: is it relevant to the granting of 
market entry applications? 

If the answer is no, then incorporate the change into next pharmaceutical needs 
assessment. 

If the answer is yes, then ask the question: is the health and wellbeing board currently 
producing its next pharmaceutical needs assessment? 

If the answer is no, then ask the question: Is producing a new pharmaceutical needs 
assessment a disproportionate response to the changes? If the answer is no, then start 
the process of developing a new pharmaceutical needs assessment.  This includes full 
consultation. Then, ask the question: is the health and wellbeing board satisfied that it 
needs to immediately modify the pharmaceutical needs assessment in order to prevent 
significant detriment to the provision of pharmaceutical services in its area? If the answer 
is no, then continue with revising the pharmaceutical needs assessment. If the answer is 
yes, then issue a supplementary statement explaining the changes to the availability of 
pharmaceutical services and continue to produce a new pharmaceutical needs 
assessment. 

If the answer is yes, then ask the question: does the health and wellbeing board need to 
issue a supplementary statement explaining the changes to the availability of 
pharmaceutical services? If the answer is no, then incorporate the change into next 
pharmaceutical needs assessment. If the answer is yes, then issue a supplementary 
statement explaining the changes to the availability of pharmaceutical services and 
continue to produce a new pharmaceutical needs assessment. 

  

Page 103



72 

Decision-making flowchart 

 

 

Page 104



73 

Appendix 3 – Template supplementary 
statements 

1. Opening of a new pharmacy 
Health and wellbeing board logo and address 

Supplementary statement to the [insert name] pharmaceutical needs assessment 

Date pharmaceutical needs assessment published –  

Date supplementary statement issued –  

The pharmaceutical needs assessment for the area of [insert name] Health and Wellbeing 
Board identified in section/chapter [X] a need for the following: 

• [insert details of need(s) identified and the service(s) required to meet that need for the 
particular locality] 

[NHS England and NHS Improvement/NHS Resolution] granted an application by [insert 
name of contractor] to open a pharmacy at [insert address] to provide the following 
pharmaceutical services: 

• [insert all pharmaceutical services that the applicant is to provide] 

These services will be provided at the following times: 

• [insert core and supplementary hours as detailed in the application] 

The pharmacy opened on [insert date of opening]. 

Supplementary statement issued by: 19 

Post: 

Date: 

 

 
 
19 This should be the name of the person or panel/committee who has been authorised to issue 
supplementary statements. 

Page 105



74 

2. Closing of a pharmacy 
Health and wellbeing board logo and address 

Supplementary statement to the [insert name] pharmaceutical needs assessment 

Date pharmaceutical needs assessment published –  

Date supplementary statement issued –  

The following pharmacy has closed: 

• [insert name and address of pharmacy] 

The pharmacy provided the following pharmaceutical services: 

• [insert all pharmaceutical services that the pharmacy provided] 

These services were provided at the following times: 

• [insert core and supplementary hours] 

The pharmacy closed on [insert date of opening]. 

Supplementary statement issued by: 20 

Post: 

Date: 

3. Consolidation of two pharmacies 
Health and wellbeing board logo and address 

Supplementary statement to the [insert name] pharmaceutical needs assessment 

Date pharmaceutical needs assessment published –  

Date supplementary statement issued –  

 
 
20 This should be the name of the person or panel/committee who has been authorised to issue 
supplementary statements. 

Page 106



75 

The following pharmacy has closed as a result of a successful consolidation application: 

• [insert name and address of pharmacy] 

The pharmacy provided the following pharmaceutical services: 

• [insert all pharmaceutical services that the pharmacy provided] 

These services were provided at the following times: 

• [insert core and supplementary hours] 

The pharmacy closed on [insert date of opening]. 

It is the opinion of [insert name] Health and Wellbeing board that the removal of this 
pharmacy from the pharmaceutical list does not create a gap in pharmaceutical services  
provision that could be met by a routine application: 

• to meet a current or future need for pharmaceutical services, or 

• to secure improvements, or better access, to pharmaceutical services. 

Supplementary statement issued by21:  

Post: 

Date: 

 

  

 
 
21 This should be the name of the person or panel/committee who has been authorised to issue 
supplementary statements 

Page 107



76 

© Crown copyright 2021 

www.gov.uk/dhsc 

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except 
where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-
government-licence/version/3 

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain 
permission from the copyright holders concerned. 

 

 

Page 108

https://www.gov.uk/dhsc
http://nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Last Meeting held on 8 March 2022
	6 Family Hubs
	7 Lancashire Better Care Fund End of Year Report 2021/22
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	8 Update on the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2022
	Appendix A
	Preface
	Summary

	Chapter 1 – introduction and legislative background
	1. Introduction
	2. Legislative background
	3. Wider context
	4. Implications for health and wellbeing boards

	Chapter 2: Understanding the regulations
	1. What the legislation says
	2. Definitions
	2.1 Advanced services
	2.2 Appliances
	2.3 Controlled localities
	2.4 Directed services
	2.5 Dispensing appliance contractors
	2.6 Dispensing doctors/practices
	2.7 Distance selling premises
	2.8 Enhanced services
	2.9 Essential services
	2.10 Local pharmaceutical services
	2.11 Locally commissioned services
	2.12 Necessary services
	2.13 Opening hours
	2.14 Other NHS services
	2.15 Other relevant services
	2.16 Pharmaceutical services
	2.17 Unforeseen benefit applications


	Chapter 3: Overview of the process
	1. Governance
	2. Gathering of health and demographic data
	3. Public and contractor engagement
	4. Pharmaceutical services information
	5. Analysis and drafting
	6. Review and sign-off
	7. Consultation
	8. Review, sign-off and publication

	Chapter 4: Engagement
	1. Steering group
	2. Members of the public
	3. Contractors

	Chapter 5: Information to be contained in pharmaceutical needs assessments
	1. What the legislation says
	2. Localities
	3. Demographic and health needs data
	4. Provision of pharmaceutical services
	5. Necessary services
	6. Other relevant services
	7. Other NHS services
	8. Maps
	9. Choice with regard to obtaining pharmaceutical services

	Chapter 6: Identifying gaps and articulating needs/improvements/ better access
	1. Background
	2. Identifying gaps in provision – current provision
	2.1 Current geographical gaps in the location of premises
	2.2 Current geographical gaps in the provision of services
	2.3 Current gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are provided
	3. Articulating current needs
	4. Articulating current improvements or better access
	5. Identifying gaps in provision – future provision
	6. Articulating future needs, improvements, or better access


	Chapter 7: Consultation
	1. Regulatory requirements
	2. Those to be consulted
	3. Suggested questions
	4. Consultation report

	Chapter 8: Updating of PNAs and supplementary statements
	1. What the legislation says
	2. Subsequent pharmaceutical needs assessments
	3. Supplementary statements
	4. Supplementary statements and pharmacy consolidations

	Appendix 1 – Suggested timeline
	Appendix 2 – Decision-making flowchart
	Decision-making process

	Appendix 3 – Template supplementary statements
	1. Opening of a new pharmacy
	2. Closing of a pharmacy
	3. Consolidation of two pharmacies




